
Pension Fund Committee

Date Tuesday 7 March 2017
Time 10.00 am
Venue Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. 
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's 

agreement.

1. Apologies for Absence  
2. Declarations of interest (if any)  
3. The Minutes of the Meeting held on 8 December 2016  (Pages 5 

- 10)
4. Overall Value of Pension Fund Investments to 31 December 

2016  (Pages 11 - 16)
5. Performance Measurement of Pension Fund Investments to 31 

December 2016  (Pages 17 - 30)
6. Short Term Investments for the Period Ended 31 December 

2016  (Pages 31 - 32)
7. Pension Fund Policy Documents - Funding Strategy Statement 

and Investment Strategy Statement  (Pages 33 - 80)
8. Agreement of Accounting Policies for Application in the 2016/17 

Financial Statements of the Pension Fund  (Pages 81 - 86)
9. Internal Audit Plan 2017/2018  (Pages 87 - 88)
10. Audit Strategy Memorandum for Year Ended 31 March 2017  

(Pages 89 - 102)
11. Terms of Reference - Annual Review  (Pages 103 - 110)



12. Guaranteed Minimum Pension Reconciliation Exercise Between 
Pension Fund Records and Her Majesty's Revenue and 
Customs  (Pages 111 - 116)

13. The UK Stewardship Code and Local Authority Pension Fund 
Forum (LAPFF) Membership  (Pages 117 - 120)

14. Investment Pooling Update  
15. Feedback from Local Pension Board  
16. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 

Meeting is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  
17. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 

discussion of items containing exempt information  

Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open 
to the public (consideration of exempt or confidential 

information)

18. The Minutes of the Meeting held on 8 December 2016  (Pages 
121 - 128)

19. Report of the Pension Fund Adviser  (Pages 129 - 160)
20. Investment Strategy Review Update  (Pages 161 - 166)
21. Report of CBRE Global Investment Partners  (Pages 167 - 174)
22. Report of Mondrian Investment Partners  (Pages 175 - 180)
23. Report of Walter Scott (BNY Mellon)  (Pages 181 - 190)
24. Report of Aberdeen Asset Management  (Pages 191 - 214)
25. Report of AB  (Pages 215 - 230)
26. Report of Royal London  (Pages 231 - 234)
27. Report of BlackRock  (Pages 235 - 248)
28. Internal Audit Progress Report to 31 December 2016  (Pages 

249 - 256)
29. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 

meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  
Colette Longbottom

Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
27 February 2017



To: The Members of the Pension Fund Committee

County Council Members:
Councillors A Turner, W Stelling, J Alvey, C Carr, M Davinson, B Kellett, 
J Lethbridge, J Lindsay, J Maitland, N Martin and J Shuttleworth

  Darlington Borough Council Members
Councillor S Harker
Councillor I G Haszeldine 

Scheduled Bodies Representative
(vacant)

Admitted Bodies Representative:
J Norton

Pensioner Representative
D Ford

Active Members Representative
(vacant)

Further Education Colleges Representative
(vacancy)

  Advisers: County Council Officers
Chief Executive
Corporate Director of 
Resources
Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services
Pensions Manager

T Collins
J Hewitt

C Longbottom

N Orton

Independent Adviser
J Holden – Mercer 

Investment Managers
Walter Scott (BNY Mellon)
Aberdeen Asset Management
Mondrian Investment Partners 
AB       
CBRE Global Investment Partners
Royal London 
BlackRock 
                                     
Staff Observers
UNISON                                   N Hancock
GMB

Contact: Jill Errington Tel: 03000 269703





DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

PENSION FUND COMMITTEE

At a Meeting of Pension Fund Committee held in Committee Room 1A, County Hall, 
Durham on Thursday 8 December 2016 at 10.00 am

Present:

Councillor A Turner (Chairman)

Members of the Committee:
Councillors C Carr, M Davinson, B Kellett, J Lethbridge, J Lindsay and N Martin

Darlington Borough Council
Councillor S Harker 

Admitted Bodies Representative
J Norton

Also Present:
J Hewitt – Corporate Director of Resources
N Orton – Pensions Manager
B White – Finance Manager – Pensions and Technical

Observers
Local Pension Board
Councillor A Hopgood – Chair
GMB
D Clegg

1 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors W Stelling, J Alvey and J 
Maitland, and pensioner representative David Ford. 

2 Declarations of interest 

Councillors C Carr and M Davinson advised that they were Members of the Audit 
Committee. 

3 Minutes 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 8 September 2016 were agreed as a correct 
record and were signed by the Chairman. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



4 Performance Measurement of Pension Fund Investments to 30 September 
2016 

The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which 
provided an overview of the performance of the Fund to 30 September 2016 (for 
copy see file of Minutes).

The report of JP Morgan, the Fund’s custodian informed Members of the 
performance of the Fund Managers for the quarter, the year to date and since 
inception.

Resolved:

That the information contained in the report be noted.

5 Overall Value of Pension Fund Investments to 30 September 2016 

The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which 
informed Members of the overall value of the Pension Fund as at 30 September 
2016, and of any additional sums available to the Managers for further investment 
or amounts to be withdrawn from Managers (for copy see file of Minutes).

Councillor Carr asked if there had been any indication from other employers in the 
Fund that there would be a reduction in membership, and if cash flow would be 
affected as a result of the local elections in May 2017 when some Councillors would 
no longer be contributing to the scheme. Nick Orton informed the Committee that 
there had been no information received from employers and any sums payable to 
Councillors who left the scheme in May 2017 would not materially affect the cash 
flow position. As Members were aware employer contributions were to increase and 
cash flow would be closely monitored in conjunction with a review of the Investment 
Strategy. 

Resolved:

That the information contained in the report be noted. 

6 Short Term Investments for the Period Ended 30 September 2016 

The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which 
provided Members with information on the performance of the Pension Fund’s short 
term investments as at 30 September 2016 (for copy see file of Minutes).

Resolved:

That the position at 30 September 2016 regarding the Pension Fund’s short term 
investments where £24,827 net interest was earned in the three month period, be 
noted.  

Page 6



7 Review of Pension Fund Risks November 2016 

The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which 
updated Members on the revisions to the Pension Fund Risk Register following a 
review by the Risk Officer in November 2016 (for copy see file of Minutes).

Councillor Davinson referred to Risk 12 in the report and asked if it should include 
reference to the potential impact on the Fund if the Government did not extend the 
April 2018 deadline for the implementation of pooling, given that formal approval 
had not yet been received. Nick Orton responded that an inability to meet the 
deadline would not present a direct risk to pension fund scheme members; the 
transition of assets was not due to start until April 2018. 

Councillor Carr asked if the annual statement to scheme members should include 
information on the pooling of investments and was informed that members had 
been informed of proposals in a previous communication.  The next communication 
would be early 2017 and could include an update on the current position.

Resolved:

That the Risk Register attached at Appendix 1 in the report be approved.   

8 Investment Regulations 

The Committee considered the report of the Corporate Director of Resources which 
informed Members of the publication of the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016, associated 
guidance relating to setting an investment strategy under these regulations and 
their impact on the management of the Pension Fund (for copy see file of Minutes).

Councillor Davinson asked if Durham Pension Fund should consider joining the 
Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF); a number of authorities in the BCPP 
were members. Nick Orton informed the Committee that the majority of local 
authority pension funds were members of the Forum which was a collaborative 
shareholder engagement group providing an opportunity to discuss investment 
issues and stakeholder engagement.

Members discussed whether Durham Pension Fund should join the Forum and 
asked for more information on the role of the LAPFF and the potential benefits of 
membership. 

Resolved:

That the information contained in the report be noted and more details about the 
LAPFF be provided in a report to the next meeting of the Committee.  

Page 7



9 Investment Pooling Update 

The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which 
provided an update on progress towards investment pooling and asked Members to 
agree a recommendation on the ownership of the investment management 
company that would be created through pooling, and on the membership of the 
Joint Committee that would supervise the company (for copy see file of Minutes).

Nick Orton explained that a formal written response to the pooling submission had 
not been received but approval to proceed was expected. Councillor Davinson 
expressed concern that until the formal approval was received a report could not be 
presented to Council, which could delay the process further. Councillor Carr also 
expressed concern that purdah for the local elections in May 2017 would 
commence at the end of March 2017 and was informed that this should not affect 
the process but Officers were seeking advice.

In response to a question from Councillor Davinson, the Corporate Director 
Resources advised that some concerns raised by Section 151 Officers, who had 
responsibility for administering the Fund, had been discussed at a recent meeting of 
the pool and had been resolved. All members of the BCPP had been represented 
at that meeting.

Resolved:

That

(i)      a paper be drafted for the County Council meeting in January or February 
2017 to seek approval of its acquisition of a share in the BCPP 
investment management company and its membership  of the Joint 
Committee supervising the BCPP investment management company;

(ii)      the report recommend that the Chair of the Pension Fund Committee (or 
nominated representative) represents the Council on the BCPP Joint 
Committee, and exercises the Council’s vote as joint owner of the BCPP 
investment management company.

10 Local Pension Board Work Plan 

The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which 
informed Members of the Work Plan the Local Pension Board had agreed at its last 
meeting (for copy see file of Minutes). 

Councillor Martin referred to the local elections in May 2017 when there may be a 
change in Board membership and asked about training for new members who may 
be unfamiliar with the local government pension scheme and the role of the Local 
Pension Board. Nick Orton informed the Member that training needs were 
considered at each Local Pension Board meeting and would therefore be 
addressed.

Page 8



Councillor Hopgood, Chair of the Local Pension Board concurred with the 
comments made and emphasised the need for all Board members to be conversant 
with scheme regulations. The proposed Work Plan would ensure that the Board 
fulfilled its role in assisting the Administering Authority in the effective governance 
of the Local Government Pension Scheme.

Resolved:

That the information contained in the report be noted.      

11 Feedback from Local Pension Board 

Members were informed that there was no written feedback or recommendations 
from the Local Pension Board to report to the Committee.

The Chairman agreed that in order to keep Members informed the following report 
should be considered.

12 Audit Completion Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2016 

The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which 
informed Members of the completion of the audit of the Pension Fund Accounts and 
presented the Audit Completion Report for the financial year ended 31 March 2016 
(for copy see file of Minutes).

The Audit Completion Report and the letter from the External Auditor presented to 
Audit Committee on 30 September 2016 were attached as Appendices to the 
report.

The report gave the Auditor’s unqualified opinion on the Pension Fund’s financial 
statements, and the consistency of the Pension Fund’s Annual Report and the 
County Council’s Statement of Accounts.

Within the control recommendations the report highlighted that BlackRock used a 
different classification than that required by the CIPFA Code of Practice and 
Members were informed of action being taken to ensure that in future the 
investments reported by BlackRock were categorised in accordance with 
accounting requirements.      

Resolved:

That the contents of the report be noted.

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Pension Fund Committee

7 March 2017 

Overall Value of Pension Fund 
Investments to 31 December 2016

John Hewitt, Corporate Director Resources

Purpose of the Report

1. To inform Members of the overall value of the Pension Fund as at 31 
December 2016 and of any additional sums available to the Managers for 
further investment or amounts to be withdrawn from Managers.

Value of the Pension Fund

2. Reports from the seven appointed Managers:

 Aberdeen 
 AB
 BlackRock
 Bank of New York (Walter Scott)
 CB Richard Ellis
 Mondrian
 Royal London 

are included in other papers within this agenda.  The value of the Fund at 31 
December 2016 was £2 billion, 584.02 million.

3. The value of the Fund as at 30 September 2016 was £2 billion, 567.52 million. 
The value of the fund therefore increased by £16.50 million in the third quarter 
of 2016/17.

Allocation of New Investment Money and Withdrawal of Investment Money to 
Deal with Estimated Deficit 

4. New investment money is allocated to Investment Managers when the 
Pension Fund has cash which is not needed to be available as a working cash 
balance, for example for the payment of pensioners or fees.

5. When it is estimated that the Pension Fund will not have sufficient cash 
available as a working cash balance, cash is withdrawn from Investment 
Managers.

6. Appendix 1 details the working cash balance position of the Pension Fund 
and cash flow for the last four quarters. This table includes only cash held in 
the Durham County Council Pension Fund Bank Account.  It does not include 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



cash balances of £40.60 million held by the Managers as at 31 December 
2016.

Cash Flow Forecast 2017/18

7. Appendix 2 shows the projected cash flow for the Pension Fund for the period 
January 2017 to March 2018.

8. This table shows that over the forecast period, the Pension Fund is estimated 
to be in surplus in the quarter ending 30 June 2017 only; in all of the other 
quarters, payments are expected to exceed receipts. This has been based 
upon the assumption that DCC will pay its three year deficit contributions in 
one lump sum in April 2017. It should be noted that this is only in respect of 
cash held in the Pension Fund bank account; income earned from 
investments is currently retained by Managers.

9. The following assumptions have been used to calculate the cash flow 
forecast:

 Dividend income receivable in 2017/18 is estimated to be £28 million 
and is profiled to be received as follows: 

o Quarter ended 30 June 2017 17%
o Quarter ended 30 September 2017 33%
o Quarter ended 31 December 2017 24%
o Quarter ended 31 March 2018 26%

 Estimated increases in contributions in line with the ongoing actuarial 
valuation. The final report from the actuary containing detailed 
information on employers’ contribution rates for the next three years is 
still awaited. As soon as this information is made available the figures 
for contributions receivable will be refined.

 ‘Transfer values in’ are estimated at £0.500m per quarter.  It is 
anticipated that transfers in will continue as LGPS will remain relatively 
attractive to employees. 

 Payroll Paysheets (payments to pensioners) are forecast to increase 
by £0.200m per quarter.  This figure will alter if there are large numbers 
of retirements in the employing authorities.  It is anticipated, however, 
that the actual figure will not be materially different to the forecast since 
the position of the County Council, being the largest employer in the 
Fund, has been taken into account.

 Payable Paysheets are forecast on the basis of the previous year’s 
profile, adjusted for known one-offs, although this can be the most 
volatile figure as it includes payments of lump sums and fees to 
Managers.  This assumption errs on the side of prudence, in that this is 
an average figure taken from previous quarterly payments.

Page 12



10. This is an early indication of the likely impact on the Pension Fund’s cash flow 
forecast over the next 15 months.  It will continue to be reviewed each quarter 
and refined to take into account of new information as it becomes available.

Fund Rebalancing

11. Fund rebalancing is the mechanism by which the Pension Fund ensures that 
the asset allocation to Investment Managers is maintained at the target levels 
agreed by the Pension Fund Committee and as set out in the Statement of 
Investment Principles. It is also the means by which cash is moved to or from 
Managers as a consequence of the cash flow forecasts.

12. Following advice from Mercer there was a rebalancing of the Fund on 21 
November 2016 when £30 million was reallocated from Royal London Asset 
Management to BlackRock.

13. Should DCC pay their three year deficit contributions as planned in April 2017, 
it is anticipated that the Pension Fund will have £26 million available to 
allocate to Fund Managers. It is proposed that the basis for calculating the 
rebalancing will be in accordance with the net asset valuations as at 28 
February 2017, and that the transactions will take place as soon as possible 
following receipt from DCC. Advice from Mercer will be sought to finalise the 
details of the exercise, with details being communicated to Fund Managers in 
advance.   

Recommendation

14. Members are asked to note the information contained in this report.

Contact: Beverley White Tel: 03000 261900

Page 13



Appendix 1
Actual Cash Flow – For the period 1 January  2016 to 31 December 2016

Quarter Ended

Estimate Actual Estimate Actual Estimate Actual Estimate Actual 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9)
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Income
Contributions - DCC 16,800,000 16,612,581 16,650,000 16,929,884 16,650,000 16,749,648 16,650,000 14,632,881

Contributions - Other 7,500,000 7,784,726 7,800,000 8,801,635 8,200,000 8,408,381 8,200,000 8,426,440

Unfunded pensions recharges 1,130,000 1,228,584 1,120,000 824,479 1,120,000 1,533,757 1,120,000 1,143,127

Transfer Values 500,000 1,705,991 500,000 147,693 500,000 286,031 500,000 2,316,672

Other income 250,000 4,627,867 1,000,000 2,781,473 2,000,000 2,624,429 2,000,000 2,704,997

Funds recovered from Managers 0 0 0 17,000,000 10,000,000 10,198,377 30,000,000 30,000,000

Interest on short term investments 45,000 34,466 20,000 19,395 30,000 24,827 15,000 9,262

Total Income 26,225,000 31,994,215 27,090,000 46,504,559 38,500,000 39,825,450 58,485,000 59,233,380

Expenditure

Payroll Paysheets 22,500,000 22,796,589 22,700,000 22,981,433 22,800,000 23,211,460 23,400,000 23,518,193

Payables Paysheets (incl. Managers’ fees) 10,000,000 9,428,192 10,000,000 12,117,843 11,000,000 11,170,473 11,000,000 11,362,602

Funds transferred to Managers 9,555,000 19,055,000 2,760,000 520,000 4,920,000 13,895,000 30,000,000 30,000,000

Other Expenditure 0 3,960,143 0 12,394 0 1,115 0 851

Total Expenditure 42,055,000 55,239,924 35,460,000 35,631,670 38,720,000 48,278,048 64,400,000 64,881,646

Surplus / (-) Deficit -15,830,000 -23,245,709 -8,370,000 10,872,889 -220,000 -8,452,598 -5,915,000 -5,648,267

Balance at Bank (opening) 41,575,889 17,904,838 27,554,055 18,648,105

Balance at Bank (closing) 17,904,838 27,554,055 18,648,105 12,526,070

31.03.16 30.06.16 30.09.16 31.12.16

P
age 14



Appendix 2
Projected Cash Flow – Including forecasted dividends receivable by Fund Managers for the period 1 January 2017 to 31 March 2018

Quarter Ended 31.03.17 30.06.17 30.09.17 31.12.17 31.03.18

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£ £ £ £ £

Income
Contributions - DCC 16,650,000 12,450,000 13,040,000 13,040,000 13,040,000

Contributions - DCC Deficit 0 55,890,000 0 0 0

Contributions - Other 8,200,000 8,760,000 9,330,000 9,330,000 9,330,000

Unfunded pensions recharges 1,120,000 1,131,000 1,131,000 1,131,000 1,131,000

Transfer Values 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

Other income 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000

Funds recovered from Managers 0 0 0 0 0

Interest on short term investments 3,500 8,000 12,000 6,000 1,000

Total Income 28,473,500 80,739,000 26,013,000 26,007,000 26,002,000

Expenditure

Payroll Paysheets 23,600,000 23,800,000 24,000,000 24,200,000 24,400,000

Payables Paysheets  (incl. Managers’ fees) 11,000,000 11,000,000 11,000,000 11,000,000 11,000,000

Funds transferred to Managers 0 26,000,000 0 0 0

Other Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 34,600,000 60,800,000 35,000,000 35,200,000 35,400,000

Surplus / (-) Deficit -6,126,500 19,939,000 -8,987,000 -9,193,000 -9,398,000

Balance at Bank (opening) 12,526,070 6,399,570 26,338,570 17,351,570 8,158,570

Balance at Bank (closing) 6,399,570 26,338,570 17,351,570 8,158,570 -1,239,430

Dividends Received by Managers 7,280,000 4,760,000 9,240,000 6,720,000 7,280,000

Net Cash Flow Position 1,153,500 24,699,000 253,000 -2,473,000 -2,118,000

P
age 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Pension Fund Committee
7 March 2017

Performance Measurement of 
Pension Fund Investments to 31 
December 2016

John Hewitt, Corporate Director, Resources

Purpose of the Report

1 To provide an overview for Members of the performance of the Fund to 
31 December 2016.

Background

2 The performance of the seven Managers is measured against personalised 
benchmarks chosen at the inception of the Fund.  The attached report from JP 
Morgan, the Fund’s custodian, shows:

(a) The Managers benchmarks;

(b) The total Fund performance, for the quarter to 31 December 2016, year 
to date and since inception;  

(c) The Managers’ performance in absolute and relative terms against the 
relevant benchmarks, for the quarter to 31 December 2016, year to 
date and since inception;

(d) A portfolio comparison for the quarter ended 31 December 2016 and 
for the period since inception.

Recommendation

3 Members note the information contained in the attached report produced by 
JP Morgan.

Contact: Beverley White Tel: 03000 261900 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Durham Quarterly Report
Report Package
Published 01-Feb-2017 05:25:55

P
age 19



Table of Contents

1 Index and Benchmark Report - Monthly - Filtered .................................................................. 1 - 1
2 Executive Summary - Filtered ................................................................................................. 2 - 2
3 Portfolio Comparison - Filtered ................................................................................................ 3 - 4
4 Relative Performance - Composite Level - Monthly - Filtered ................................................ 5 - 9

P
age 20



Index and Benchmark Report - Monthly
Durham CC (UK005)
As at December 2016

Name Month 
Return

Business Unit Indices

  

Equities

FT-All Share +3% 5.27

FTSE-Ftse All-Share (Gross) 5.01

FTSE-Ftse Aw Developed (Gross) 3.59

MSCI AC World Index (Gross) + 2.5% 3.55

MSCI AC World Index (Gross) + 3% 3.60

MSCI EM (Emerging Markets) (Net) 1.34

MSCI EM (Emerging Markets) (Net) + 2.5% 1.55

MSCI-Acwi (Gross) 3.34

MSCI-Em (Emerging Markets) (Gross) + 
2.5%

1.61

MSCI-World (Gross) 3.57

  

Fixed Income

British Gov Index Linked over 5 Yr + 0.5% 3.75

  

Cash And Cash Equivalent

3 MONTH GBP LIBOR 0.03

3Month GBP Libor +4% 0.36

3Month libor in GBP plus 3% 0.28

GBP Zero Return Index 0.00

RPI + 5% 1.01

Retail Price Index (UK) 0.60

1

Page 1 of 9

P
age 21



 

Executive Summary
 Durham CC (UK005)

As of December 2016

Gross of Fee

Total Fund Composite (0UK00501)

Market Value Overview Performance Overview

In GBP (Mils)

December 2016 September 2016 June 2016 March 2016 December 2015

Market Value 2,584.02 2,567.52 2,433.49 2,299.09 2,198.32

Net Cash Flow (0.23) 3.70 (16.48) 19.06 18.18

Net Income / Appreciation 16.73 130.33 150.88 81.72 51.69

Performance (Annualised > 1 Year)

Calendar 
Quarter Year to Date 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs Since 

Inception

Total Fund Composite 0.65 17.23 17.23 8.05 8.51 7.11

Total Composite Custom

Excess Return

2.13

(1.48)

19.71

(2.49)

19.71

(2.49)

10.08

(2.03)

9.83

(1.32)

8.80

(1.69)

Development of Market Value - Since Inception Performance Returns

0.00

400.00

800.00

1,200.00

1,600.00

2,000.00

2,400.00

2,800.00

M
ar

ch
 2

00
8

M
ay

 2
00

8
Ju

ly
 2

00
8

S
ep

te
m

be
r 

20
08

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

08
Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

09
M

ar
ch

 2
00

9
M

ay
 2

00
9

Ju
ly

 2
00

9
S

ep
te

m
be

r 
20

09
N

ov
em

be
r 

20
09

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
10

M
ar

ch
 2

01
0

M
ay

 2
01

0
Ju

ly
 2

01
0

S
ep

te
m

be
r 

20
10

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

10
Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

11
M

ar
ch

 2
01

1
M

ay
 2

01
1

Ju
ly

 2
01

1
S

ep
te

m
be

r 
20

11
N

ov
em

be
r 

20
11

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
12

M
ar

ch
 2

01
2

M
ay

 2
01

2
Ju

ly
 2

01
2

S
ep

te
m

be
r 

20
12

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

12
Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

13
M

ar
ch

 2
01

3
M

ay
 2

01
3

Ju
ly

 2
01

3
S

ep
te

m
be

r 
20

13
N

ov
em

be
r 

20
13

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
14

M
ar

ch
 2

01
4

M
ay

 2
01

4
Ju

ly
 2

01
4

S
ep

te
m

be
r 

20
14

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

14
Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

15
M

ar
ch

 2
01

5
M

ay
 2

01
5

Ju
ly

 2
01

5
S

ep
te

m
be

r 
20

15
N

ov
em

be
r 

20
15

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
16

M
ar

ch
 2

01
6

M
ay

 2
01

6
Ju

ly
 2

01
6

S
ep

te
m

be
r 

20
16

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

16

Month Year

In
 G

B
P

 (
M

ils
)

(4.00)

0.00

4.00

8.00

12.00

16.00

20.00

24.00

Calendar Quarter Year to Date 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs Since Inception

0.65

17.23 17.23

8.05 8.51

7.11

2.13

19.71 19.71

10.08 9.83
8.80

(1.48)
(2.49) (2.49) (2.03)

(1.32) (1.69)

Total Fund Composite Total Composite Custom Excess Return

C
al

en
d

ar
 Q

u
ar

te
r,

 Y
ea

r 
to

 D
at

e,
 1

 Y
r,

 3
 Y

rs
, 5

 Y
rs

, S
in

ce
 In

ce
p

ti
o

n

Page 2 of 9

P
age 22



Portfolio Comparison
Durham CC (UK005)
As of December 2016

Gross of Fee
Excess Return - Additive
Primary - Pound Sterling

Manager Benchmark Market Value 
(mils) Weight Trailing 3 

Months Return
Benchmark 
Trailing 3 

Months Return
Excess 
Returns

Current 
Contribution 

to Return
Aberdeen MSCI-Acwi (Gross) + 3% 414.63 16.05 3.80 7.29 (3.49) 0.61
Alliance Bernstein 3 Month Libor in GBP +3% pa 353.99 13.70 (0.28) 0.84 (1.12) (0.04)
Barings Zero return - Historically 3 Month Libor in GBP +4% pa 0.09 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Blackrock Zero Return - Historically FTSE All Share (Gross) +3% pa 0.01 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
BlackRock DAA 3 Month Libor in GBP +3% pa 475.62 18.41 (0.76) 0.84 (1.60) (0.14)
BNY MSCI AC World Index (Gross) + 2.5% 423.62 16.39 4.78 7.16 (2.38) 0.78
CBRE 1 Headline RPI +5% pa (CBRE1) 180.87 7.00 3.20 2.06 1.13 0.22
CBRE 2 Headline RPI +5% pa (CBRE2) 35.85 1.39 (2.46) 2.06 (4.52) (0.03)
JPMSL Transition Account Not Applicable 0.00 0.00 0.00 - - 0.00
Mondrian MSCI EM (Emerging Markets) (Gross) + 2.5% 179.87 6.96 (0.44) 1.46 (1.90) (0.03)
Royal London FTSE index Linked more than 5 years +0.5% pa 519.46 20.10 (2.99) (2.97) (0.02) (0.60)
Transition Account Not Applicable 0.01 0.00 0.00 - - 0.00
Total Fund Composite Total Composite Custom 2,584.02 100.00 0.65 2.13 (1.48) 0.65

Page 3 of 9

P
age 23



Portfolio Comparison
Durham CC (UK005)
As of December 2016

Gross of Fee
Excess Return - Additive
Primary - Pound Sterling

Excess Returns - Trailing 3 Months

(3.49)

(1.12)

0.00 0.00

(1.60)

(2.38)

1.13

(4.52)

(1.90)

(0.02)

(1.48)

(5.00)

(4.00)

(3.00)

(2.00)

(1.00)

0.00

1.00

2.00

Excess Return

Aberdeen
Alliance Bernstein
Barings
Blackrock
BlackRock DAA
BNY
CBRE 1
CBRE 2
JPMSL Transition Account
Mondrian
Royal London
Transition Account
Total Fund Composite

Page 4 of 9

P
age 24



Relative Performance
Durham CC (UK005)

For Period Ending December 2016
Gross of Fee

Excess Return - Additive
Primary - Pound Sterling

Total Fund Composite (0UK00501)

ID Name Market Value Month 
Return

Trailing 
3 

Months

Year 
to 

Date

Trailing 
1 Year

Trailing 
3 Years

Trailing 
5 Years

Since 
Inception

00047879 JPMSL Transition Account 215.84 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 - (0.19)

Not Applicable - - - - - - -

Excess Return - - - - - - -
 
                          
00047880 Blackrock 10,317.74 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.18 6.00 5.06

Zero Return - Historically FTSE All Share (Gross) +3% pa 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.05 7.64 6.73

Excess Return 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.13 (1.64) (1.67)
 
                          
00047881 Royal London 519,458,386.23 3.28 (2.99) 26.53 26.53 15.01 9.15 9.88

FTSE index Linked more than 5 years +0.5% pa 3.75 (2.97) 27.82 27.82 15.68 9.59 10.03

Excess Return (0.47) (0.02) (1.29) (1.29) (0.67) (0.43) (0.15)
 
                          
00047882 Alliance Bernstein 353,989,384.76 0.90 (0.28) 5.02 5.02 3.27 3.98 4.01

3 Month Libor in GBP +3% pa 0.28 0.84 3.51 3.51 3.55 3.61 4.19

Excess Return 0.62 (1.12) 1.51 1.51 (0.28) 0.38 (0.18)
 
                          
00047884 Barings 88,791.91 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3.77 5.24 6.18

Zero return - Historically 3 Month Libor in GBP +4% pa 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.92 3.02 4.29

Excess Return 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.85 2.22 1.89
 
                          
00047885 CBRE 1 180,866,368.57 0.45 3.20 8.33 8.33 10.67 9.51 3.68

Headline RPI +5% pa (CBRE1) 1.01 2.06 7.61 7.61 6.86 7.32 7.81

Excess Return (0.56) 1.13 0.72 0.72 3.81 2.20 (4.13)
 
                          

Page 5 of 9

P
age 25



Relative Performance
Durham CC (UK005)

For Period Ending December 2016
Gross of Fee

Excess Return - Additive
Primary - Pound Sterling

Total Fund Composite (0UK00501)

ID Name Market Value Month 
Return

Trailing 
3 

Months

Year 
to 

Date

Trailing 
1 Year

Trailing 
3 Years

Trailing 
5 Years

Since 
Inception

00051183 CBRE 2 35,850,444.85 4.66 (2.46) 16.98 16.98 13.25 12.53 6.72

Headline RPI +5% pa (CBRE2) 1.01 2.06 7.61 7.61 6.86 7.32 7.81

Excess Return 3.65 (4.52) 9.37 9.37 6.39 5.21 (1.09)
 
                          
00082265 Transition Account 11,155.89 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 - 3.16

Not Applicable - - - - - - -

Excess Return - - - - - - -
 
                          
00301582 BlackRock DAA 475,620,802.62 1.14 (0.76) (0.04) (0.04) - - 0.29

3 Month Libor in GBP +3% pa 0.28 0.84 3.76 3.76 - - 4.10

Excess Return 0.86 (1.60) (3.81) (3.81) - - (3.81)
 
                          
00301629 Mondrian 179,874,752.46 2.94 (0.44) 28.90 28.90 - - 2.99

MSCI EM (Emerging Markets) (Gross) + 2.5% 1.61 1.46 36.38 36.38 - - 9.99

Excess Return 1.33 (1.90) (7.47) (7.47) - - (7.00)
 
                          
00301630 Aberdeen 414,634,206.77 3.29 3.80 29.91 29.91 - - 9.29

MSCI-Acwi (Gross) + 3% 3.60 7.29 33.29 33.29 - - 19.35

Excess Return (0.31) (3.49) (3.38) (3.38) - - (10.05)
 
                          
00301691 BNY 423,618,857.39 3.01 4.78 27.26 27.26 - - 16.61

MSCI AC World Index (Gross) + 2.5% 3.55 7.16 32.64 32.64 - - 18.98

Excess Return (0.55) (2.38) (5.38) (5.38) - - (2.37)
 
                          

Page 6 of 9

P
age 26



Relative Performance
Durham CC (UK005)

For Period Ending December 2016
Gross of Fee

Excess Return - Additive
Primary - Pound Sterling

Total Fund Composite (0UK00501)

ID Name Market Value Month 
Return

Trailing 
3 

Months

Year 
to 

Date

Trailing 
1 Year

Trailing 
3 Years

Trailing 
5 Years

Since 
Inception

0UK00501 Total Fund Composite 2,584,023,685.03 2.30 0.65 17.23 17.23 8.05 8.51 7.11

Total Composite Custom 2.18 2.13 19.71 19.71 10.08 9.83 8.80

Excess Return 0.12 (1.48) (2.49) (2.49) (2.03) (1.32) (1.69)
 
                          

Page 7 of 9

P
age 27



Feb 1, 2017

Disclaimer
Copyright © 2014 JPMorgan Chase & Co. All rights reserved. 
 
This report is provided exclusively for the purpose of assisting the customer in monitoring the investment performance of its accounts.  J.P. Morgan is providing a reporting service to the customer to assist it in the management of the accounts and, in doing so, is not 
acting in a fiduciary capacity for the accounts.  J.P. Morgan has no responsibility for the selection, monitoring or termination of any investment manager with respect to any of the accounts.  The reports are not intended to be considered the rendering of investment 
advice or in any way to influence any investment decisions or the selection of any investment managers for the accounts.  The customer assumes sole responsibility for its use of the reports. 
 
This report contains information that is the property of J.P. Morgan and/or its content providers, and is intended for use by the investment officers of our institutional clients. J.P. Morgan makes no warranty, express or implied, concerning the accuracy or completeness of 
this information and the information in this report should not be relied on in substitution for the exercise of independent judgment by any recipient.  This report may not be copied, published, or used in whole or in part with third-parties for any purposes other than 
expressly authorized by J.P. Morgan. 
 
The information furnished in this report may contain data obtained from third-party sources that J.P. Morgan believes to be reliable. However, J.P. Morgan makes no warranty, express or implied, concerning the accuracy or completeness of third-party data.  Where J.P. 
Morgan relies on accounting, pricing and associated security data – or instructions for what accounts comprise composites – by the customer or its third party administrators, J.P. Morgan takes no responsibility for the accuracy of such information. 
 
Third-party data is the intellectual property of those vendors and is subject to restrictions contained in the licenses, which J.P. Morgan cannot unilaterally change.  If the third party supplier adds additional restrictions to data use, J.P. Morgan shall use reasonable efforts 
to notify the customer of such changes in writing.  Customer's continued use of the report after receipt of notice shall constitute customer's acceptance of the revised usage provision. 
 
The information contained in this report may be subject to change from time to time without prior notice to the Customer, for reasons including, but not limited to, the subsequent restating of accounting information or index returns. 
 
The information furnished in this report does not constitute the provision of ‘financial product advice’ as defined under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and does not take into account the financial situation, needs or objectives of individuals in Australia. 
 
The information furnished in this report is available in New Zealand solely to persons who are wholesale clients for the purposes of the Financial Advisers Act 2008. If you do not meet this criterion, you are not entitled to this report. 
 
J.P. Morgan shall not be liable to the customer or any other person for any direct or indirect liability, loss, claim, cost, damage, penalty, fine, obligation or expense of any kind whatsoever suffered or incurred by, or asserted against, the customer or any other person 
howsoever arising, whether in tort (including negligence), in contract or under statute, directly or indirectly from, or in connection with, the use of this report or report information, for any trading decision. 
 
The Global Industry Classification Standard ("GICS") was developed by and is the exclusive property and a service mark of Morgan Stanley Capital International Inc. ("MSCI") and Standard's,' a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. ("S&P") and is licensed for 
use by The JPMorgan Chase & Co. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. 
 
Neither MSCI, S&P, nor any other party involved in making or compiling the GICS or any GICS classifications makes any express or implied warranties or representations with respect to such standard or classification (or the results to be obtained by the use thereof), 
and all such parties hereby expressly disclaim all warranties of originality, accuracy, completeness, merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose with respect to any of such standard or classification. Without limiting any of the foregoing, in no event shall MSCI, 
S&P, any of their affiliates or any third party involved in making or compiling the GICS or any GICS classifications have any liability for any direct, indirect, special, punitive, consequential or any other damages (including lost profits) even if notified of the possibility of 
such damages. 
 
Standard and Poor's including its subsidiary corporations ("S&P") is a division of the McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. Reproduction of S&P Index Alerts in any form is prohibited except with the prior written permission of S&P. Because of the possibility of human or 
mechanical error by S&P sources, S&P, or others, S&P does not guarantee the accuracy, adequacy, completeness or availability of any information and is not responsible for any errors or omissions or for the results obtained from the use of such information. S&P gives 
not express or implied warranties, including, but not limited to, any warranties or merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose or use. In no event shall S&P be liable for any indirect, special or consequential damages in connection with subscriber's or others'  use of 
S&P Index Alerts. 
 
The recipient of the credit ratings data  (in any format other than locked, non-manipulable on-screen display) must ensure that a valid and fully paid license with the relevant credit ratings agency is in existence as at the time of receipt and throughout the period during 
which recipient retains or  uses such credit ratings data. 
 
This may contain information obtained from third parties, including ratings from credit ratings agencies such as Standard & Poor's.  Reproduction and distribution of third party content in any form is prohibited except with the prior written permission of the related third 
party.  Third party content providers do not guarantee the accuracy, completeness, timeliness or availability of any information, including ratings, and are not responsible for any errors or omissions (negligent or otherwise), regardless of the cause, or for the results 
obtained from the use of such content.  THIRD PARTY CONTENT PROVIDERS GIVE NO EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ANY WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE 
OR USE. THIRD PARTY CONTENT PROVIDERS shall not be liable for any direct, indirect, incidental, exemplary, compensatory, punitive, special or consequential damages, costs, expenses, legal fees, or losses (including lost income or profits and opportunity costs 
OR LOSSES CAUSED BY NEGLIGENCE) in connection with any use of THEIR CONTENT, INCLUDING ratings. Credit ratings are statements of opinions and are not statements of fact or recommendations to purchase, hold or sell securities. They do not address the 
suitability of securities or the suitability of securities for investment purposes, and should not be relied on as investment advice. 
 
Neither JPMorgan Chase & Co nor any of its affiliates, subsidiaries, or third party suppliers (“JPMorgan”) accepts any liability for any losses, costs, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses  (including, without limitation, loss of profits) (collectively, “Losses”) which the 
recipient may incur as a result of its use of the data or its failure to hold a valid and fully paid license with the relevant credit rating agencies.” SM   
 
Copyright MSCI 2014. Unpublished. All Rights Reserved. This information may only be used for your internal use, may not be reproduced or redisseminated in any form and may not be used to create any financial instruments or products or any indices. This information 
is provided on an "as is" basis and the user of this information assumes the entire risk of any use it may make or permit to be made of this information. Neither MSCI, any of its affiliates or any other person involved in or related to compiling, computing or creating this 
information makes any express or implied warranties or representations with respect to such information or the results to be obtained by the use thereof, and MSCI, its affiliates and each such other person hereby expressly disclaim all warranties (including, without 
limitation, all warranties of originality,accuracy,completeness, timeliness, non-infringement, merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose) with respect to this information. Without limiting any of the foregoing, in no event shall MSCI, any of its affiliates or any other 
person involved in or related to compiling, computing or creating this information have any liability for any direct,indirect,special,incidental,punitive, consequential or any other damages (including,without limitation, lost profits) even if notified of, or if it might otherwise 
have anticipated, the possibility of such damages. 
 
FTSE ® is a trade mark of London Stock Exchange Plc and The Financial Times Limited and is used by FTSE under license. All rights in the FTSE Indices vest in FTSE and/or its licensors. Neither FTSE nor its licensors accept any liability for any errors or omissions in 
the FTSE Indices or underlying data. 
 
The Industry Classification Benchmark is a joint product of FTSE International Limited and Dow Jones & Company, Inc. and has been licensed for use. "FTSE" is a trade and service mark of London Stock Exchange and The Financial Times Limited."Dow Jones" and 
"DJ" are trade and service marks of Dow Jones  Inc. FTSE and Dow Jones & Company do not accept any liability to any person for any loss or damage arising out of any error or omission in the ICB. 
 
The Dow Jones Wilshire IndexesSM are calculated, distributed and marketed by Dow Jones & Company , Inc. pursuant to an agreement between Dow Jones and Wilshire and have been licensed for use. All content of the Dow Jones Wilshire IndexesSM  © 2011 Dow 
Jones & Company, Inc. and Wilshire Associates Incorporated. 
 
Frank Russell Company ("FRC") is the source and owner of the Russell Index data contained or reflected in this material and all trademarks and copyrights related thereto. The presentation may contain confidential information and unauthorized use, disclosure, copying, 
dissemination or redistribution is strictly prohibited. This is a USER presentation of the Russell Index data. Frank Russell Company is not responsible for the formatting or configuration of this material or for any inaccuracy in USER's presentation thereof. 
 
The Merrill Lynch Indices are used with permission. Copyright 2011, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated. All rights reserved. The Merrill Lynch Indices may not be copied, used, or distributed without Merrill Lynch's prior written approval. Merrill Lynch 
does not guarantee the quality, accuracy and/or completeness of the Merrill Lynch indices or any data included therein or derived therefrom and shall not be liable to any third party in connection with their use. 
 
© UBS 2011. All rights reserved. The name UBS Global Convertible Bond Index and the names of the related UBS AG sub-indices (together the "UBS Indices") are proprietary to UBS AG ("UBS"). UBS and MACE Advisers Ltd (the UBS Global Convertible Bond Index 
Calculation Agent) are together the "Index Parties". SM 
 
© IPD (Investment Property Databank Ltd.) 2011 All rights conferred by law of copyright, by virtue of international copyright conventions and all other intellectual property laws are reserved by IPD. No part of the Mercer / IPD Australian Pooled Property Fund Index - 
Wholesale Core may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without the prior written consent of IPD. This index is neither appropriate nor authorized by IPD for use as a benchmark for portfolio or manager performance, or as the basis for any 
business decision. IPD gives no warranty or representation that the use of this information will achieve any particular result for you. Neither Mercer nor IPD has any liability for any losses, damages, costs or expenses suffered by any person as a result of any reliance on 
this information. 
 
The NZX indices referred to in this report are the property of NZX Limited ("NZX"). Any adaptation, reproduction or transmittance of the data or contents of the NZX indices in any form or by any means other than for private use is prohibited without the prior written 
permission of NZX. NZX and its affiliates, directors, officers, agents or employees do not make any warranty of any kind, either express or implied, as to the accuracy of the content of the NZX indices or fitness for a particular purpose or use. NZX hereby disclaims all 
liability to the maximum extent permitted by law in relation to the NZX indices. Neither NZX, its subsidiary companies, nor their directors, officers, agents or employees shall, under any circumstances, be liable to any person for any direct, indirect, consequential, 

Page 8 of 9

P
age 28



incidental, special or punitive damages, howsoever arising (whether in negligence or otherwise), out of or in connection with the content, any omission from the content, any use of the content or any actions taken or reliance by any person thereon. 
 
Barclays Capital is the source of its respective indices.DAX indices are registered trademarks of Deutsche Borse AG.Fixed income risk characteristics provided by BlackRock Solutions.Trust Universe Comparison Service ® and TUCS ®. 
 
Citigroup is the source of its respective indices.© TSX Copyright 2014 TSX Inc. All Rights Reserved.Hang Seng Indexes Company Limited is the source of its respective indices. 
 
The calculation of Value-at-Risk requires numerous assumptions that should be kept in mind when interpreting it. These limitations include but are not limited to the following: VaR measures may not appropriately convey the magnitude of sudden and unexpected 
extreme events, historical data that forms the basis of VaR may fail to predict content and future market volatility, and our VaR methodology does not fully reflect the effects of market illiquidity (the inability to sell or hedge a position over a relatively long period) and 
does not incorporate credit risk events that may affect its value.  
 
The information furnished in this report may be based in part on services provided by Algorithmics (U.S.), Inc. and/or its affiliates ("Algorithmics"). Algorithmics does not make any express or implied warranty or representation regarding its services or contributions to this 
report, including any warranty of originality, accuracy, completeness, merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose, nor shall its services or contributions to this report be construed as providing any financial advice, auditing, accounting, appraisal, regulatory or 
compliance services. Algorithmics is not responsible for the data or assumptions that are processed through Algorithmics' services nor can Algorithmics guarantee the accuracy or validity of data received from third parties that enables the service to generate the 
information contained in this report. In no event shall Algorithmics have any liability for any direct, indirect, special, punitive, consequential or any other damages arising out or relating to its services or contributions to this report, or your reliance thereon. By accepting 
this report, the recipient is agreeing to the foregoing limitations on Algorithmics' responsibility and liability. 
 
Please review this report carefully. The contents of this report will be considered correct and the recipient will be taken to have read, accepted and acknowledged the correctness and accuracy of this report, if no error is reported by the recipient within 3 business days of 
the issue of this report.

Page 9 of 9

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Pension Fund Committee

7 March 2017                                     

Short Term Investments for the period 
ended 31 December 2016

John Hewitt, Corporate Director Resources

Purpose of Report

1. To provide the Committee with information on the performance of the Pension 
Fund’s short term investments as at 31 December 2016.

Short Term Investments

2. Durham County Council (DCC) invests the short term cash balances on behalf of 
the Pension Fund; this is done in line with DCC’s Treasury Management Policy and 
Annual Investment Strategy.  This investment strategy sets out the maximum 
amounts and time limits in respect of deposits which can be placed with each 
financial institution. 

3. The Pension Fund’s surplus cash holding as at 31 December 2016 was £11.753 
million which was held in the institutions listed in the table below alongside their 
credit rating at 31 December 2016.

Financial Institution Short-term 
Rating Amount Invested

   £m
Bank Deposit Accounts   
 Santander UK Plc F1 1.537
    
Fixed Term Deposits
            Standard Chartered  F1 2.711
 Bank of Scotland F1 2.110
 Nationwide Building Society F1 2.110
 Goldman Sachs F1 2.110

National Savings & Investments N/A 0.060
Money Market Funds N/A  1.115

Total   11.753

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



4. The following table provides information on the net interest earned during the three 
month period to 31 December 2016, the average daily investment balance and the 
average return earned in comparison to the average bank base rate. The interest 
paid to the Pension Fund is based on the London Interbank Bid (LIBID) three month 
rate and is net of the fees of £2,500 paid for the Council undertaking the Treasury 
Management function for the Pension Fund.

Total

Net Interest Earned £9,262

Average Return Earned 0.26%

Average Bank of England base rate 0.25%

Average Daily Balance of Investments £17.567m

Recommendation

5. Members are asked to note the position at 31 December 2016 regarding the 
Pension Fund’s short term investments where £9,262 net interest was earned in the 
three month period.

Contact: Beverley White Tel: 03000 261900

Page 32



Pension Fund Committee

7 March 2017

Pension Fund Policy Documents – 
Funding Strategy Statement and 
Investment Strategy Statement

John Hewitt, Corporate Director Resources

Purpose of the Report

1. To inform Members of the drafts of the revised Funding Strategy Statement 
and the new Investment Strategy Statement which are currently out to 
consultation with Pension Fund employers.

Background

2. Regulation 58 of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 
(‘the LGPS regulations’) requires Local Government Pension Schemes 
(LGPS) administering authorities to prepare, maintain and publish a ‘Funding 
Strategy Statement’ (FSS).

3. The key requirements for preparing the FSS can be summarised as follows:

 After consultation with all relevant interested parties involved with the Fund 
the Administering Authority will prepare and publish their funding strategy;

 In preparing the FSS, the Authority must have regard to:

i. the guidance issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
(CIPFA) for this purpose; and

ii. their own Statement of Investment Principles (SIP) for the Fund (or, 
from 1 April 2017 the Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement (ISS))

iii. the FSS must be revised and published whenever there is a 
material change in either the policy on the matters set out in the 
FSS or the SIP / ISS.

4. The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of 
Funds) Regulations 2009 required administering authorities to prepare and 
review a written statement recording the investment policy of the Pension 
Fund – the ‘Statement of Investment Principles’ (SIP). As reported at the 
December 2016 Pension Fund Committee meeting, these regulations were 
replaced by the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and 
Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 (‘the 2016 investment regulations’), 
which took effect from 1 November 2016 and require administering 
authorities, after taking proper advice, to prepare and publish a written 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



statement setting out their investment strategy in relation to the Fund – the 
‘Investment Strategy Statement’ (ISS) – to be published no later than 1 April 
2017. The ISS needs to be prepared in accordance with guidance issued from 
time to time by the Secretary of State.

5. A revised draft FSS is included at Appendix A and a draft ISS is included at 
Appendix B.

Funding Strategy Statement

6. The Pension Fund Actuary has been closely involved in the preparation of the 
revised FSS, which reflects the funding approach taken to the latest triennial 
valuation, as at 31 March 2016. Significant changes from the previous version 
of the FSS are as follows:

 A new section has been added entitled ‘Commencement of Employers’ 
clarifying how (notional) asset transfers are calculated for new employers. 
This will be of particular relevance for new academy trusts.

 The ISS is referred to as well as the SIP, as for an interim period both 
documents will be relevant.

 Reference is made to the role of the Local Pension Board in reviewing the 
valuation process.

 Reference is made to the LGPS regulations requirement for Funds to 
target long term cost efficiency as well as solvency.

 After discussions with, and advice from, the Pension Fund actuary the 
pooling of risks associated with payment of death in service lump sums 
has been extended to include risks associated with payment of survivors 
pensions on death in service and payment of ill health pensions. The effect 
of this will be negligible for the larger Fund employers but for smaller 
employers will reduce contribution volatility and effectively self-insure what 
are currently significant risks.

Investment Strategy Statement

7. The main additions to the ISS compared with the current SIP are as follows:

 A section on investment beliefs and objectives
 A section setting out how the Council as administering authority to the 

Pension Fund will comply with the requirement to pool assets with other 
Fund. 

 A commitment by the Pension Fund to the principles of active asset 
ownership set out in the UK Stewardship Code.

Next Steps

8. The draft FSS and ISS will be sent to all Pension Fund employers week 
commencing 27 February 2017 with a request for comments within two 
weeks.

Page 34



9. Final versions of the documents will be circulated by 31 March 2017. The ISS 
may need to be revised in future, for example if the Pension Fund’s 
investment strategy changes. This will require necessitate further consultation 
with employers and with the Committee.

Recommendations

10. Members are asked to 

i) note the report and to advise of any comments they may have on the draft 
FSS and ISS set out in the appendices to this report, and;

ii) authorise the Corporate Director Resources to finalise the wording of the 
FSS and ISS, where appropriate taking into account any comments 
received from employers, and publish final versions by 31 March 2017.

Contact: Nick Orton Tel: 03000 269798

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 28

APPENDIX A

Pension Fund

Funding Strategy Statement 

Page 37



Page 2 of 28

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section Page

A Statutory Background and Key Issues 3

B Purpose of the Funding Strategy Statement 4

C Purpose and Aims of the Pension Fund 4

D Responsibilities of the Key Parties:

The Administering Authority 7

Individual Employers 8

The Fund Actuary 9

E Funding Targets, Solvency and Employer asset shares

Risk Based Approach 10

Solvency and ‘funding success’ 11

Probability of funding success 12

Funding Target 12

Application to different types of body 12

Full Funding and Solvency 13

Recovery Periods 13

Stepping 14

Grouping 15

Asset shares notionally allocated to employers 16

Roll forward of Asset shares 16

Fund Maturity 17

F Special Circumstances relating to Certain Employers

Interim reviews 18

Guarantors 19

Bonds and other Securitisation 19

Subsumed Liabilities 20

Orphan Liabilities 21

Commencement of Employers 21

Cessation of Participation 22

G Links to Investment Policy set out in the Statement of Investment Principles 23

H Identification of Risks and Counter-Measures 23

I Monitoring and Review 28

Page 38



Page 3 of 28

STATUTORY BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

1. The Local Government Pension Scheme (England and Wales) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2004 came into effect on 1 April 2004.  They originally provided the 
statutory framework from which Local Government Pension Schemes (LGPS) 
administering authorities were required to prepare a Funding Strategy Statement 
(FSS) by 31 March 2005. The requirements at the date of writing this Statement are 
now set out under Regulation 58 of the Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations 2013 (the Regulations).

2. Key issues:

 After consultation with such persons as it considers appropriate (including 
officers and elected members and Fund employers), the administering authority 
is required to prepare and publish their funding strategy.

 In preparing the FSS, the administering authority has to have regard to:

 guidance published by CIPFA in October 2012 entitled "Guidance on 
Preparing and Maintaining a Funding Strategy Statement and to the 
Fund's Statement of Investment Principles" and updated guidance 
published by CIPFA in September 2016.

 its Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) or Statement of Investment 
Principles (SIP) published under Regulation 7 of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 
2016 (the Investment Regulations).

 The FSS must be revised and published whenever there is a material change in 
policy either on the matters set out in the FSS or the ISS or SIP.

 Each Fund Actuary must have regard to the FSS as part of the fund valuation 
process and the Fund Actuary has therefore been consulted on the contents of 
this FSS.

 The FSS addresses the issue of managing the need to fund benefits over the 
long term, whilst at the same time, allowing for scrutiny and accountability 
through improved transparency and disclosure.

 Until 1 April 2014, the Scheme was a defined benefit final salary scheme.  From 
1 April 2014, the Scheme is a defined benefit career average revalued earnings 
scheme.  The benefits at the date of writing this Statement are specified in the 

Page 39



Page 4 of 28

Regulations.  Constraints on the levels of employee contributions are also 
specified in the Regulations.  

 Employer contributions are determined in accordance with the Regulations, 
which require that an actuarial valuation is completed every three years by the 
Fund Actuary.  

3. This Statement was reviewed as part of the triennial valuation as at 31 March 2016, 
and has been updated in March 2017.

 (B) PURPOSE OF THE FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT 

4. The purpose of this Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) is to document the 
processes by which the Administering Authority:

 establishes a clear and transparent fund-specific strategy which will identify 
how employers’ pension liabilities are best met going forward;

 supports the regulatory requirement of the desirability of maintaining as 
nearly constant a primary rate of employer contribution rates as possible; 

 enables overall employer contributions to be kept as constant as possible 
and (subject to the Administering Authority not taking undue risks and 
ensuring that the regulatory requirements are met) at reasonable cost to the 
taxpayers, scheduled, designating and admitted bodies;

 ensures that the regulatory requirements to set contributions so as to ensure 
the solvency and long-term cost efficiency of the Fund are met; and

 takes a prudent longer-term view of funding the Fund’s liabilities.

The intention is for this Strategy to apply comprehensively for the Fund as a whole 
to reflect its best interests, recognising that there will always be conflicting 
objectives which need to be balanced and reconciled.  Whilst the position of 
individual employers must be reflected in the Statement, it must remain a single 
Strategy for the Administering Authority to implement and maintain.  

(C) PURPOSE AND AIMS OF THE PENSION FUND

5. The purpose of the fund is to:

Page 40



Page 5 of 28

Invest monies in respect of contributions, transfer values and investment income to 
produce a Fund to pay Scheme benefits over the long term and in so doing to 
smooth out the contributions required from employers over the long term.

6. The aims of the fund are to:

 Comply with Regulation 62 of the Regulations and specifically to 
adequately fund benefits to secure the Fund's solvency while taking 
account of the desirability of maintaining as nearly constant primary 
employer contribution rates as possible

The Administering Authority aims to keep employer contributions as nearly 
constant as possible, whilst taking account of:

 the regulatory requirement to secure solvency and long term cost 
efficiency, which should be assessed in the light of the risk profile of 
the Fund and risk appetite of the Administering Authority and 
employers

 the requirement to ensure that costs are reasonable to Scheduled 
Bodies, Admission Bodies, other bodies and to taxpayers (subject to 
not taking undue risks), and

 maximising return from investments within reasonable risk parameters

In order to achieve nearly constant employer contribution rates there may be a 
need to invest in assets that match the employer’s liabilities.  In this context, 
‘match’ means assets which behave in a similar manner to the liabilities as 
economic conditions alter.  For the liabilities represented by benefits payable by 
the Local Government Pension Scheme, such assets would tend to comprise 
gilt edged investments.

The Administering Authority currently invests a large proportion of the Fund in 
equities, which are perceived as having higher long-term rates of return 
consistent with the requirement to maximise the returns from investments, 
within reasonable risk parameters.  These assets are more risky in nature than 
fixed interest investments, and this can lead to more volatile returns in the 
short-term and a failure to deliver the anticipated returns in the long term.

This can have an effect on employer contribution rates as the funding position 
of the Pension Fund is measured at the triennial valuations.  The impact of this 

Page 41



Page 6 of 28

can be reduced by smoothing adjustments at each actuarial valuation.  
Smoothing adjustments recognise that markets can rise and fall too far.

The Administering Authority recognises that there is a balance to be struck 
between the investment policy adopted, the smoothing mechanisms used at 
valuations, and the resultant stability of employer contribution rates from one 
valuation period to the next.

The Administering Authority also recognises that the position is potentially more 
volatile for admission bodies with short term contracts where utilisation of 
smoothing mechanisms is less appropriate.

 Manage employers’ liabilities effectively

The Administering Authority seeks to manage employers’ liabilities effectively.  
In a funding context, this is achieved by seeking actuarial advice and regular 
monitoring of the investment of the Fund’s assets through quarterly meetings of 
the Pension Fund Committee and appropriate segregation of employers for 
funding purposes.

 Ensure that sufficient resources are available to meet all liabilities as they 
fall due

The Administering Authority recognises the need to ensure that the Fund has 
sufficient liquid assets to pay pensions, transfer values and other expenses.  
This position is continuously monitored and the cash available from 
contributions and cash held by Fund Managers is reviewed on a quarterly basis 
by the Pension Fund Committee.

 Maximise the returns from investments within reasonable risk 
parameters.

The Administering Authority recognises the desirability of maximising returns 
from investments within reasonable risk parameters, through investment in 
unmatched investments.  Investment returns higher than those of fixed interest 
and index-linked bonds are sought from investment in equities, property and 
other growth assets.  The Administering Authority ensures that risk parameters 
are reasonable by:

 Taking advice from its professional advisers, e.g. the Fund Actuary, 
Investment advisers and investment managers

Page 42



Page 7 of 28

 Controlling levels of investment in asset classes through the SIP or ISS

 Limiting default risk by restricting investment to asset classes recognised 
as appropriate for UK Pension Funds.

 Analysing the volatility and absolute return risks represented by those 
asset classes in collaboration with the Investment Adviser and Fund 
Managers, and ensuring that they remain consistent with the risk and 
return profiles anticipated in the funding strategy statement.

 Limiting concentration risk by developing a diversified investment strategy.

 Monitoring the mismatching risk, i.e. the risk that the investments do not 
move in line with the Fund's liabilities.

(D) RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE KEY PARTIES

7. Although a number of parties including investment fund managers and external 
auditors have responsibilities to the fund, the three parties whose responsibilities to 
the Fund are of particular relevance are the Administering Authority, the individual 
employers and the Fund Actuary:

8. The administering authority should: 

 Administer the Fund

 Collect employer and employee contributions as set out in the Regulations

 Determine a schedule of due dates for the payment of contributions -
Section 70(1)(a) of the Pensions Act 2004 suggests that Administering 
Authorities are now required to report breaches as defined in Section 70 (2) of 
the 2004 Act.  This places monitoring of the date of receipt of employer 
contributions on the Administering Authority and therefore places a duty to 
report material late payments of contributions to the Pensions Regulator.

 Take action to recover assets from admission bodies whose Admission 
Agreement has ceased and other bodies whose participation in the Fund has 
ceased.

 Invest surplus monies in accordance with the Regulations.

Page 43



Page 8 of 28

 Pay from the Fund the relevant entitlements as set out in the Regulations.

 Ensure that cash is available to meet liabilities as and when they fall due.

 take measures as set out in the regulations to safeguard the fund against the 
consequences of employer default

 Manage the valuation process in consultation with the Fund’s Actuary.

 Ensure effective communications with the Fund’s Actuary to:

- Ensure that the Fund Actuary is clear about the content of the Funding 
Strategy Statement;

- Ensure reports are made available as required by guidance and 
regulation;

- Agree timetables for the provision of information and valuation results;
- Ensure provision of accurate data; and
- Ensure that participating employers receive appropriate 

communications.

 Consider the appropriateness of interim valuations.

 Prepare and maintain an FSS and a SIP or ISS, both after proper consultation 
with interested parties, and

 Monitor all aspects of the fund’s performance and funding and amend the FSS 
and SIP or ISS regularly as part of the on-going monitoring process.

 Effectively manage any potential conflicts of interest arising from its dual role as 
both Administering Authority and as a Scheme Employer.

 Enable the local Pension Board to review the valuation process as set out in 
their terms of reference

9. The individual employers should:

 Deduct contributions from employees’ pay correctly.

Page 44



Page 9 of 28

 Pay all ongoing contributions, including their own as determined by the actuary, 
promptly by the due date.

 Pay any exit payments required in the event of their ceasing participation in the 
Fund.

 Develop a policy on certain discretions and exercise discretions within the 
regulatory framework, ensuring that the Administering Authority has copies of 
current policies covering those discretions.

 Make additional contributions in accordance with agreed arrangements in 
respect of, for example, additional membership or pension, augmentation of 
scheme benefits and early retirement strain, and

 Notify the administering authority promptly of all changes to membership, or as 
may be proposed, which affect future funding.

 Noting, and if desired responding to, any consultation regarding the Funding 
Strategy Statement, the Statement of Investment Principles, or other policies.

10. The fund actuary should:

 Prepare triennial valuations including the setting of employers’ contribution 
rates at a level to ensure solvency and long term cost efficiency after agreeing 
assumptions with the administering authority and having regard to the FSS and 
the Regulations.

 Prepare advice and calculations in connection with bulk transfers, the funding 
aspects of individual benefit-related matters, valuations of exiting employers 
and other forms of security for the Administering Authority against the financial 
effect on the Fund of the employer's default.  Such advice will take account of 
the funding position and Funding Strategy Statement, as well as other relevant 
matters when instructed to do so.

 Assist the Administering Authority in assessing whether employer contributions 
need to be revised between actuarial valuations as required or permitted by the 
Regulations.

 In response to a request from the Administering Authority, assess the impact of 
Regulatory changes on costs.

Page 45



Page 10 of 28

 Ensure that the Administering Authority is aware of any professional guidance 
or other professional requirements which may be of relevance to his or her role 
in advising the Administering Authority.

(E) FUNDING TARGETS, SOLVENCY AND EMPLOYER ASSET SHARES

Risk based approach

11. The Fund utilises a risk based approach to funding strategy.
 

12. A risk based approach entails carrying out the actuarial valuation on the basis of the 
assessed likelihood of meeting the funding objectives.  In practice, three key 
decisions are required for the risk based approach: 

 what the Solvency Target should be (the funding objective - where the 
Administering Authority wants the Fund to get to),

 the Trajectory Period (how quickly the Administering Authority wants the Fund 
wants to get there), and

 the Probability of Funding Success (how likely the Administering Authority 
wants it to be now that the Fund will actually achieve the Solvency Target by 
the end of the Trajectory Period). 

These three choices, supported by complex risk modelling carried out by the Fund 
Actuary, define the discount rate and, by extension, the appropriate levels of 
contribution payable.  Together they measure the riskiness of the funding strategy. 

These three terms are considered in more detail below. 

Solvency and 'funding success' 

13. The Administering Authority's primary aim is long-term solvency.  Accordingly, 
employers’ contributions will be set to ensure that 100% of the liabilities can be met 
over the long term.  The Solvency Target is the amount of assets which the Fund 
wishes to hold at the end of the Trajectory Period (see later) to meet this aim. 

14. The Fund is deemed to be solvent when the assets held are equal to or greater 
than 100% of the Solvency Target. The Administering Authority believes that its 
funding strategy will ensure the solvency of the Fund because employers 

Page 46



Page 11 of 28

collectively have the financial capacity to increase employer contributions should 
future circumstances require, in order to continue to target a funding level of 100%

 For Scheduled Bodies, and certain other bodies, of sound covenant whose 
participation is indefinite in nature, appropriate actuarial methods and 
assumptions are taken to be measurement by use of the Projected Unit method 
of valuation, and using assumptions such that, if the Fund's financial position 
continued to be assessed by use of such methods and assumptions, and 
contributions were paid in accordance with those methods and assumptions, 
there would be a chance of at least 80% that the Fund would continue to be 
100% funded over a time period considered appropriate at the time of 
assessment.  The level of funding implied by this is the Solvency Target.  For 
the purpose of this Statement, the required level of chance is defined as the 
Probability of Maintaining Solvency.

 For certain Admission Bodies, bodies closed to new entrants and other bodies 
whose participation in the Fund is believed to be of limited duration through 
known constraints or reduced covenant, and for which no access to further 
funding would be available to the Fund after exit, the required Probability of 
Maintaining Solvency will be set at a level higher than 80% dependent on 
circumstances.  For most such bodies, the chance of achieving solvency will be 
set commensurate with assumed investment in an appropriate portfolio of 
Government index linked and fixed interest bonds after exit. 

Probability of Funding Success

15. The Administering Authority deems funding success to have been achieved if the 
Fund, at the end of the Trajectory Period, has achieved the Solvency Target.  The 
Probability of Funding Success is the assessed chance of this happening based on 
the level of contributions payable by members and employers.

16. Consistent with the aim of enabling employers' contribution rates to be kept as 
nearly constant as possible, the required chance of achieving the Solvency Target 
at the end of the relevant Trajectory Period for each employer or employer group 
can be altered at successive valuations within an overall envelope of acceptable 
risk.  The Administering Authority will not permit contributions to be set following a 
valuation that have an unacceptably low chance of achieving the Solvency Target at 
the end of the relevant Trajectory Period.

17. At the 2016 valuation, the Trajectory Period used was 25 years, and the probability 
of Funding Success was set to be 67%.

Page 47



Page 12 of 28

Funding Target

18. In order to satisfy the legislative requirement to secure long term cost efficiency the 
Administering Authority’s aim is for employer contributions to be set so as to make 
provision for the cost of benefit accrual, with an appropriate adjustment for any 
surplus or deficiency. This is achieved through the setting of a Funding Target.

19. The Funding Target is the amount of assets which the Fund needs to hold at the 
valuation date to pay the liabilities at that date as indicated by the chosen valuation 
method and assumptions.  It is a product of the triennial actuarial valuation exercise 
and is not necessarily the same as the Solvency Target.  It is instead the product of 
the data, chosen assumptions, and valuation method.  The valuation method 
including the components of Funding Target, future service contributions and any 
adjustment for surplus or deficiency set the level of contributions payable, and 
dictate the chance of achieving the Solvency Target at the end of the Trajectory 
Period (defined below).  The Funding Target will be the same as the Solvency 
Target only when the methods and assumptions used to set the Funding Target are 
the same as the appropriate funding methods and assumptions used to set the 
Solvency Target (see above).

20. Consistent with the aim of enabling employers' primary contribution rates to be kept 
as nearly constant as possible:

 Contribution rates are set by use of the Projected Unit valuation method for 
most employers.  The Projected Unit method is used in the actuarial valuation 
to determine the cost of benefits accruing to the Fund as a whole and for 
employers who continue to admit new members.  This means that the future 
service (primary) contribution rate is derived as the cost of benefits accruing to 
employee members over the year following the valuation date expressed as a 
percentage of members’ pensionable pay over that period.

 For employers who no longer admit new members, the Attained Age valuation 
method is normally used.  This means that the future service (primary) 
contribution rate is derived as the average cost of benefits accruing to members 
over the period until they die, leave the Fund or retire. 

Application to different types of body

21. Some comments on the principles used to derive the Solvency and Funding Targets 
for different bodies in the Fund are set out below.

 Scheduled Bodies and certain other bodies of sound covenant
The Administering Authority will adopt a general approach in this regard of 

Page 48



Page 13 of 28

assuming indefinite investment in a broad range of assets of higher risk than 
low risk assets for Scheduled Bodies and certain other bodies which are long 
term in nature. 

 Admission Bodies and certain other bodies whose participation is limited 
For Admission Bodies, bodies closed to new entrants and other bodies whose 
participation in the Fund is believed to be of limited duration through known 
constraints or reduced covenant, and for which no access to further funding 
would be available to the Fund after exit the Administering Authority will have 
specific regard to the potential for participation to cease (or to have no 
contributing members), the potential timing of such exit, and any likely change 
in notional or actual investment strategy as regards the assets held in respect 
of the body's liabilities at the date of exit (i.e. whether the liabilities will become 
'orphaned' or whether a guarantor exists to subsume the notional assets and 
liabilities).

Full Funding and Solvency

22. The Fund is deemed to be fully funded when the assets held are equal to 100% of 
the Funding Target, where the funding target is assessed based on the sum of the 
appropriate funding targets across all the employers/groups of employers..  

23. The Fund is deemed to be solvent when the assets held are equal to or greater 
than 100% of the Solvency Target. 

Recovery Periods

24. The Recovery Period in relation to an employer is the period between the valuation 
date and the date on which solvency is targeted to be achieved.

25. Where a valuation shows the Fund to be in surplus or deficit against the Funding 
Target, employers' contribution rates will be adjusted to reach the solvent position 
over a number of years.  The Recovery Period in relation to an employer or group of 
employers is therefore a period over which any adjustment to the level of 
contributions in respect of a surplus or deficiency relative to the Funding Target 
used in the valuation is payable.  

26. The Recovery Period applicable for each employer is set by the Fund Actuary in 
consultation with the Administering Authority and the employer, with a view to 
balancing the various funding requirements against the risks involved due to such 
issues as the financial strength of the employer and the nature of its participation in 
the Fund.

Page 49



Page 14 of 28

27. The Administering Authority recognises that a large proportion of the Fund’s 
liabilities are expected to arise as benefits payments over a long period of time.  For 
employers of sound covenant, the Administering Authority is therefore prepared to 
agree Recovery Periods that are longer than the average future working lifetime of 
the membership of that employer.  In general for employers that are closed to new 
entrants and are of sufficient term, the Recovery Period is set to be the estimated 
future working lifetime of the active membership (i.e. the estimated period of time 
until the last active member leaves or retires).  The Administering Authority 
recognises that such an approach is consistent with the aim of keeping employer 
contribution rates as nearly constant as possible. 

28. However, the Administering Authority also recognises the risk involved in relying on 
long Recovery Periods and has agreed with the Actuary a maximum recovery 
period of 30 years for both, for employers which are assessed by the Administering 
Authority as being a long term secure employer.  It is the intention of the 
Administering Authority to agree with employers a Recovery Period of as short a 
time as possible within this 30 year limit having regard to the affordability of the 
revised contribution rate in general taking into account the legislative requirements 
of securing solvency and maintaining as nearly a constant a contribution rate as 
possible.  A period of 21 years has been used for Durham County Council at the 
2016 valuation, the largest employer in the Fund.  Recovery Periods for other 
employers or employer groups may be shorter and may not necessarily be the 
same as each other, in order to suitably balance risk to the Fund and cost to the 
employer.

29. For each individual employer the following will also be taken into account:

 covenant and strength of any guarantee relating to an employer and hence the 
risk of default

 length of participation in the Fund

 whether the employer is closed to new entrants or is likely to have a contraction 
in its membership of the Fund

Stepping

30. The Administering Authority will also consider at each valuation whether new 
contribution rates should be payable immediately or reached by being stepped over 
a number of years.  Stepping is a generally accepted method of smoothing the 
impact of rate changes for local authority pension funds.  In consultation with the 
Actuary, the Administering Authority accepts that long term employers may step up 

Page 50



Page 15 of 28

to the new rates.  This is in line with the aim of having contribution rates as nearly 
constant as possible.   The Administering Authority usually allows a maximum of 
three steps however, in exceptional circumstances up to six steps may be used.

Grouping

31. In some circumstances it may be desirable to group employers within the Fund 
together for funding purposes (i.e. to calculate employer contribution rates).  
Reasons might include reduction of volatility of contribution rates for small 
employers, facilitating situations where employers have a common source of 
funding or accommodating employers who wish to share the risks related to their 
participation in the Fund.

32. The Administering Authority recognises that grouping can give rise to cross 
subsidies from one employer to another over time.  Employers may be grouped 
entirely, such that all of the risks of participation are shared, or only partially 
grouped such that only specified risks are shared.  The Administering Authority’s 
policy is to consider the position carefully at initial grouping and at each valuation 
and to notify each employer that is grouped which other employers it is grouped 
with and details of the grouping method used.  If the employer objects to this 
grouping, it will be set its own contribution rate.

33. Where employers are grouped together for funding purposes, this will only occur 
with the consent of the employers involved. 

34. All employers in the Fund are grouped together in respect of the risks associated 
with payment of lump sum benefits on death in service, and, from 1 April 2016, 
survivors pensions on death in service and payment of ill health pensions – in other 
words, the cost of such benefits is shared across the employers in the Fund.  Such 
benefits can cause funding strains which could be significant for some of the 
smaller employers without insurance or sharing of risks.  The Fund, in view of its 
size, does not see it as cost effective or necessary to insure these benefits 
externally and this is seen as a pragmatic and low cost approach to spreading the 
risk.

35. Where employers are pooled together for funding and contribution purposes, all 
risks are shared within the group and they have a single contribution rate. 

Page 51



Page 16 of 28

Asset shares notionally allocated to employers

36. In order to establish contribution rates for individual employers or groups of 
employers it is convenient to notionally subdivide the Fund as a whole between the 
employers (or group of employers where grouping operates), as if each employer 
had its own asset share within the Fund.

37. This subdivision is for funding purposes only.  It is purely notional in nature and 
does not imply any formal subdivision of assets, or ownership of any particular 
assets or groups of assets by any individual employer or group.

Roll-forward of asset shares

38. The asset share allocated to each employer will be rolled forward allowing for all 
cash flows associated with that employer's membership, including contribution 
income, benefit outgo, transfers in and out and investment income.  In general no 
allowance is made for the timing of contributions and cash flows for each year are 
assumed to be made half way through the year with investment returns assumed to 
be uniformly earned over that year. However, where significant one-off employer 
contributions have been paid, allowance is made for the timing of such 
contributions.

39. Further adjustments are made for:

 A notional deduction to meet the expenses paid from the Fund in line with the 
assumption used at the previous valuation.

 Allowance for any known material internal transfers in the Fund (cash flows will 
not exist for these transfers).  The Fund Actuary will assume an estimated cash 
flow equal to the value of the liabilities determined consistent with the Funding 
Target transferred from one employer to the other unless some other approach 
has been agreed between the two employers.

 Allowance for lump sum death in service and other benefits shared across all 
employers in the Fund (see earlier).

 An overall adjustment to ensure the notional assets attributed to each employer 
is equal to the total assets of the Fund which will take into account any gains or 
losses related to the orphan liabilities.

40. In some cases information available will not allow for such cash flow calculations.  
In such a circumstance:

Page 52



Page 17 of 28

 Where, in the opinion of the Fund Actuary, the cash flow data which is 
unavailable is of low materiality, estimated cash flows will be used.

 Where, in the opinion of the Fund Actuary, the cash flow data which is 
unavailable is material, the Fund Actuary will instead use an analysis of gains 
and losses to roll forward the asset share.  Analysis of gains and losses 
methods are less precise than use of cash flows and involve calculation of gains 
and losses relative to the surplus or deficiency exhibited at the previous 
valuation.  Having established an expected surplus or deficiency at this 
valuation, comparison of this with the liabilities evaluated at this valuation leads 
to an implied notional asset holding.

41. Analysis of gains and losses methods will also be used where the results of the 
cash flow approach appears to give unreliable results perhaps because of unknown 
internal transfers.

Fund maturity

42. To protect the Fund, and individual employers, from the risk of increasing maturity 
producing unacceptably volatile contribution adjustments as a percentage of pay 
the Administering Authority will normally require contributions as monetary amounts 
from employers in respect of any disclosed funding deficiency.

43. In certain circumstances, for secure employers considered by the Administering 
Authority as being long term in nature, contribution adjustments to correct for any 
disclosed deficiency may be set as a percentage of payroll.  Such an approach 
carries an implicit assumption that the employer's payroll will increase at an 
assumed rate.  If payroll fails to grow at this rate, or declines, insufficient corrective 
action will have been taken.  To protect the Fund against this risk, the Administering 
Authority will monitor payrolls and where evidence is revealed of payrolls not 
increasing at the anticipated rate, the Administering Authority will consider requiring 
deficit contributions as monetary amounts rather than percentages of payroll. 

Page 53



Page 18 of 28

(F) SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES RELATED TO CERTAIN EMPLOYERS

Interim reviews

44. Regulation 64 of the Regulations provides the Administering Authority with a power 
to carry out valuations in respect of employers who are likely to become an exiting 
employer, and for the Actuary to certify revised contribution rates, between triennial 
valuation dates.

45. The Administering Authority's overriding objective at all times in relation to 
employers is that, where possible, there is clarity over the Funding Target for that 
body, and that contribution rates payable are appropriate for that Funding Target.  
However, this is not always possible as any exit date may be unknown (for 
example, participation may be assumed at present to be indefinite), and also 
because market conditions change daily.

46. The Administering Authority's general approach in this area is as follows:

 Where the exit date is known, and is more than 3 years hence, or is unknown 
and assumed to be indefinite, the Administering Authority will generally not 
deem it necessary to carry out an interim valuation.

 For Admission Bodies admitted under paragraph 1(d) of Part 3, Schedule 2 
of the Regulations falling into the above category, the Administering Authority 
sees it as the responsibility of the relevant Scheme Employer to instruct it if 
an interim valuation is required.  Such an exercise would be at the expense 
of the relevant Scheme Employer unless otherwise agreed.

 A material change in circumstances, such as the exit date becoming known, 
material membership movements or material financial information coming to 
light may cause the Administering Authority to informally review the situation 
and subsequently formally request an interim valuation.

 For an employer whose participation is due to cease within the next 3 years, 
the Administering Authority will keep an eye on developments and may see 
fit to request an interim valuation at any time.

47. Notwithstanding the above guidelines, the Administering Authority reserves the right 
to request an interim valuation of any employer at any time if Regulation 64(4) of 
the Regulations applies.

Page 54



Page 19 of 28

Guarantors

48. Some employers may participate in the Fund by virtue of the existence of a 
Guarantor.  The Administering Authority maintains a list of employers and their 
associated Guarantors.  The Administering Authority, unless notified otherwise, 
sees the duty of a Guarantor to include the following:

 If an employer exits and defaults on any of its financial obligations to the 
Fund, the Guarantor is expected to provide finance to the Fund such that the 
Fund receives the amount certified by the Fund Actuary as due, including 
any interest payable thereon.

 If the Guarantor is an employer in the Fund and is judged to be of suitable 
covenant by the Administering Authority, the Guarantor may defray some of 
the financial liability by subsuming the residual liabilities into its own pool of 
Fund liabilities.  In other words, it agrees to be a source of future funding in 
respect of those liabilities should future deficiencies emerge.

49. During the period of participation of the employer a Guarantor can at any time agree 
to the future subsumption of any residual liabilities of an employer.  The effect of 
that action would be to reduce the Funding and Solvency Target for the employer, 
which would probably lead to reduced contribution requirements.

Bonds and other securitisation

50. Paragraph 6 of Part 3, Schedule 2 of the Regulations creates a requirement for a 
new Admission Body to carry out, to the satisfaction of the Administering Authority 
(and the Scheme Employer in the case of an Admission Body admitted under 
paragraph 1(d)(i) of that Part), an assessment taking account of actuarial advice of 
the level of risk on premature termination by reason of insolvency, winding up or 
liquidation. 

51. Where the level of risk identified by the assessment is such as to require it, the 
admission body shall enter into an indemnity or bond with an appropriate party.  
Where it is not desirable for an Admission Body to enter into an indemnity or bond, 
the body is required to secure a guarantee in a form satisfactory to the 
Administering Authority from an organisation who either funds, owns or controls the 
functions of the admission body.

52. The Administering Authority's approach in this area is as follows:

 In the case of Admission Bodies admitted under Paragraph 1(d) of Part 3, 
Schedule 2 of the Regulations and other Admission Bodies with a Guarantor, 

Page 55



Page 20 of 28

and so long as the Administering Authority judges the relevant Scheme 
Employer or Guarantor to be of sufficiently sound covenant, any bond exists 
purely to protect the relevant Scheme Employer on default of the Admission 
Body.  As such, it is entirely the responsibility of the relevant Scheme 
Employer or Guarantor to arrange any risk assessments and decide the level 
of required bond.  The Administering Authority will be pleased to supply 
some standard calculations provided by the Fund Actuary to aid the relevant 
Scheme Employer, but this should not be construed as advice to the relevant 
Scheme Employer on this matter.  The Administering Authority notes that 
levels of required bond cover can fluctuate and recommends that relevant 
Scheme Employers review the required cover regularly, at least once a year.

 In the case of: 
 admission bodies admitted under paragraph 1(e) of Part 3, 

Schedule 2;
 admission bodies admitted under paragraph 1(d) of Part 3, 

Schedule 2 where the administering authority does not judge the 
Scheme Employer to be of sufficiently strong covenant;

 other admission bodies with no Guarantor or where the 
administering authority does not judge the Guarantor to be of 
sufficiently strong covenant; 

the administering authority must be involved in the assessment of the 
required level of bond to protect the Fund.  The admission will only be able to 
proceed once the Administering Authority has agreed the level of bond cover.  
The Administering Authority will supply some standard calculations provided 
by the Fund Actuary to aid the relevant Scheme Employer to form a view on 
what level of bond would be satisfactory.  The Administering Authority will 
also on request supply this to the Admission Body or Guarantor.  This should 
not be construed as advice to the Scheme Employer, Guarantor or 
Admission Body.  The Administering Authority notes that levels of required 
bond cover can fluctuate and will recommend the relevant Scheme Employer 
to jointly review the required cover with it regularly, at least once a year.

Subsumed liabilities

53. Where an employer is exiting the Fund such that it will no longer have any 
contributing members, it is possible that another employer in the Fund agrees to 
provide a source of future funding in respect of any emerging deficiencies in respect 
of those liabilities.

54. In such circumstances the liabilities are known as subsumed liabilities (in that 
responsibility for them is taken on by the accepting employer).  For such liabilities 

Page 56



Page 21 of 28

the Administering Authority will assume that the investments held in respect of 
those liabilities will be the same as those held for the rest of the liabilities of the 
accepting employer.  Generally this will mean assuming continued investment in 
more risky investments than Government bonds.

Orphan liabilities

55. Where an employer is exiting the Fund such that it will no longer have any 
contributing members, unless any residual liabilities are to become subsumed 
liabilities, the Administering Authority will act on the basis that it will have no further 
access for funding from that employer once any exit valuation, carried out in 
accordance with Regulation 64 of the Regulations, has been completed and any 
sums due have been paid. Residual liabilities of employers from whom no further 
funding can be obtained are known as orphan liabilities.

56. The Administering Authority will seek to minimise the risk to other employers in the 
Fund that any deficiency arises on the orphan liabilities such that this creates a cost 
for those other employers to make good the deficiency.  To give effect to this, the 
Administering Authority will seek funding from the outgoing employer sufficient to 
enable it to match the liabilities with low risk investments, generally Government 
fixed interest and index linked bonds.

57. To the extent that the Administering Authority decides not to match these liabilities 
with Government bonds of appropriate term then any excess or deficient returns will 
be added to or deducted from the investment return to be attributed to the other 
employer's notional assets.

58. Liabilities in the Fund which are already orphaned will be assumed to be 100% 
funded on the appropriate funding target at each triennial valuation.  This will be 
achieved by the Actuary notionally re-allocating assets within the Fund as required.

Commencement of Employers

59. When a new employer starts in the Fund, and members transfer from another 
employer in the Fund, a notional transfer of assets is needed from the original 
employer to the new employer. The approach used will depend on the 
circumstances surrounding the commencement of the new employer and some 
comments are set out below.

60. When a new admission body starts in the Fund due to an oursourcing event, they 
will usually start as fully funded on the Funding Target appropriate to the new 
employer. This means that any past service surplus or deficit for the members who 

Page 57



Page 22 of 28

are transferring to the new employer remains with the original employer and does 
not transfer to the new employer.

61. For academies, a prioritised share of fund approach is followed. This involves fully 
funding the non-active members of the original employer at the previous triennial 
valuation, and using the residual assets to calculate the funding level applicable to 
the active members of the original employer. This is rolled forward in line with the 
progression of the overall funding level of the original employer during the period 
from the last valuation date to the date of commencement of the academy. The 
funding level applicable to the active members is then used to calculate the notional 
asset transfer to the new employer.

62. In other circumstances the notional asset transfer will often be subject to the 
agreement between the relevant parties and the Administering Authority (who will 
take advice from the Fund Actuary). In the event of any dispute the Administering 
Authority will take make the final decision having taken account of the issues 
related to the setting up of the new employer.

Cessation of participation

63. Where an employer becomes an exiting employer, an exit valuation will be carried 
out in accordance with Regulation 64 of the Regulations.  That valuation will take 
account of any activity as a consequence of exit regarding any existing contributing 
members (for example any bulk transfer payments due) and the status of any 
liabilities that will remain in the Fund.

64. In particular, the exit valuation will distinguish between residual liabilities which will 
become orphan liabilities, and liabilities which will be subsumed by other employers. 

 For orphan liabilities the Funding Target in the exit valuation will anticipate 
investment in low risk investments such as Government bonds. 

 For subsumed liabilities the exit valuation will anticipate continued 
investment in assets similar to those held in respect of the subsuming 
employer's liabilities.

65. Regardless of whether the residual liabilities are orphan liabilities or subsumed 
liabilities, the departing employer will be expected to make good the funding 
position revealed in the exit valuation.  In other words, the fact that liabilities may 
become subsumed liabilities does not remove the possibility of an exit payment 
being required.

Page 58



Page 23 of 28

(G) LINKS TO INVESTMENT POLICY SET OUT IN THE STATEMENT OF 
INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES OR INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT

66. The current investment strategy, as set out in the SIP or ISS, is summarised below:

General Principles and diversification

67. The Fund believes that the emphasis of investment over the long term should be on 
real assets, particularly equities and property.  These are most likely to maximise 
the long term returns.  The balance between UK and Overseas equities is, however, 
a matter of investment judgement.  The Fund should also be diversified to include 
other real assets, such as Index-Linked and 'monetary' assets, such as Bonds and 
Cash.  

68. The neutral benchmark proportions of the various asset classes have been 
determined by the Fund in consultation with the Investment Advisers and are 
reviewed at least once every three years to coincide with the Triennial Actuarial 
Valuation.  

69. The active Investment managers are expected to adopt an active asset allocation 
policy to take advantage of the shorter term relative attractions of the various asset 
types.

70. The Administering Authority has produced this Funding Strategy Statement having 
taken a view on the level of risk inherent in the investment policy set out in the SIP 
or ISS and the funding policy set out in this document.  

71. The SIP or ISS sets out the investment responsibilities and policies relevant to the 
Fund.

72. The Administering Authority will continue to review both documents to ensure that 
the overall risk profile remains appropriate.

(H) IDENTIFICATION OF RISKS AND COUNTER-MEASURES

73. The Administering Authority seeks to identify all risks to the Fund, will monitor the 
risks and take appropriate action to limit the impact of them wherever possible. The 
Administering Authority will ensure that funding risks are included within their 
overarching risk management framework and strategy, linking to their risk register 
and risk management policy as appropriate and includes defining a role for the 
Local Pension Board within this framework.

Page 59



Page 24 of 28

74. For ease of classification some of the key risks may be identified as follows:

75. Investment

These include:
 assets not delivering the required return (for whatever reason, including 

manager underperformance)
 systemic risk with the possibility of interlinked and simultaneous financial 

market volatility
 having insufficient funds to meet liabilities as they fall due
 inadequate, inappropriate or incomplete investment and actuarial advice is 

taken and acted upon
 counterparty failure

The specific risks associated with assets and asset classes are:
 equities – industry, country, size and stock risks
 fixed income  - yield curve, credit risks, duration risks and market risks
 alternative assets – liquidity risks, property risk, alpha risk
 money market – credit risk and liquidity risk
 currency risk
 macroeconomic risks

The Administering Authority reviews each investment manager’s performance 
quarterly and annually considers the asset allocation of the Fund by carrying out an 
annual review meeting.  The Administering Authority also annually reviews the 
effect of market movements on the Fund’s overall funding position.

76. Employer

These include:
 the risk arising from ever changing mix of employers, from short term and 

exiting employers, and the potential for a shortfall in payments and / or 
orphaned liabilities.

The Administering Authority will put in place a Funding Strategy Statement which 
contains sufficient detail on how funding risks are managed in respect of the main 
categories of employer (e.g. scheduled and admission bodies) and other pension 
fund stakeholders.

Page 60



Page 25 of 28

The Administering Authority maintains a knowledge base on their employers, their 
basis of participation and their legal status and will use this information to set a 
funding strategy for the relevant employers

77. Liability

These include:
 Interest rates being lower than expected
 Pay increases being higher than expected
 Price inflation being higher than expected
 The longevity horizon continuing to expand
 Deteriorating patterns of early retirements

The Administering Authority will ensure that the Actuary investigates these matters 
at each valuation.   Prudent management of the fund should ensure that sound 
policies and procedures are in place to manage, e.g. potential ill health or early 
retirements.

78. Regulatory

These include:
 Changes to general and LGPS specific regulations, e.g. more favourable 

benefits package, potential new entrants to the scheme, e.g. part-time 
employees

 Changes to national pension requirement and/or Inland Revenue rules

79. Liquidity and maturity

These include:
 An increased emphasis on outsourcing and alternative models for service 

delivery may result in active members leaving the LGPS
 Transfer of responsibility between different public sector bodies
 Scheme changes which might lead to increased opt-outs
 Spending cuts and their implications

All of these may result in workforce reductions that would reduce membership, 
reduce contributions and prematurely increase retirements in ways that may not 
have been taken into account in previous forecasts.

Page 61



Page 26 of 28

The Administering Authority's policy is to require regular communication between 
itself and employers and to ensure reviews of maturity at overall Fund and employer 
level where material issues are identified.

80. Governance

These include:
 Administering authority unaware of structural changes in an employer’s 

membership (e.g. large fall in employee members, large number of 
retirements)

 Administering authority not advised of an employer closing to new entrants
 An employer ceasing to exist with insufficient funding or adequacy of a bond

The Administering Authority requires regular communication with employers to 
ensure that it is made aware of any such changes in a timely manner.

81. Choice of Solvency and Funding Targets

The Administering Authority recognises that future experience and investment 
income cannot be predicted with certainty.  Instead, there is a range of possible 
outcomes, and different assumed outcomes will lie at different places within that 
range.

The more optimistic the assumptions made in determining the Funding Target and 
Solvency Target, the more that outcome will sit towards the 'favourable' end of the 
range of possible outcomes, the lower will be the probability of experience actually 
matching or being more favourable than the assumed experience, and the lower 
will be the Funding Target and Solvency Target calculated by reference to those 
assumptions.

The Administering Authority will not adopt assumptions for Scheduled Bodies and 
certain other bodies which, in its judgement, and on the basis of actuarial advice 
received, are such that it is less than 55% likely that the strategy will deliver 
funding success (as defined earlier in this document).  Where the probability of 
funding success is less than 65% the Administering Authority will not adopt 
assumptions which lead to a reduction in the aggregate employer contribution rate 
to the Fund.

The Administering Authority’s policy will be to monitor the underlying position 
assuming no such excess returns are achieved to ensure that the funding target 
remains realistic relative to the low risk position.

Page 62



Page 27 of 28

82. Smoothing of Assets

These include:

 The utilisation of a smoothing adjustment in the solvency measurement 
introduces an element of risk, in that the smoothing adjustment may not 
provide a true measure of the underlying position

The Administering Authority’s policy is to review whether an approach is suitable 
and if so ensure the impact of this adjustment remains within acceptable limits.

83. Recovery Period

These include:

 Permitting surpluses or deficiencies to be eliminated over a recovery period 
rather than immediately introduces a risk that action to restore solvency is 
insufficient between successive measurements

The Administering Authority’s policy is to discuss the risks inherent in each situation 
with the Fund Actuary and to limit the permitted length of Recovery Period where 
appropriate.  Details of the Administering Authority's policy are set out earlier in this 
Statement.

84. Stepping

These include:
 Permitting contribution rate changes to be introduced by annual steps rather 

than immediately introduces a risk that action to restore solvency is 
insufficient in the early years of the process

The Administering Authority’s policy is to discuss the risks inherent in each situation 
with the Fund Actuary and to limit the number of permitted steps as appropriate.  
Details of the Administering Authority's Policy are set out earlier in this Statement.

Page 63



Page 28 of 28

(I) MONITORING AND REVIEW

85. The Administering Authority must keep the FSS under review and make appropriate 
revisions following a material change in policy. The triennial valuation exercise will 
establish contribution rates for all employers contributing to the fund within the 
framework provided by the strategy. 

Page 64



   

APPENDIX B

INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT 
DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND MARCH 2017
1 Introduction

The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) 
Regulations 2016 (‘the 2016 Investment Regulations’) require administering authorities to 
formulate and to publish a statement of its investment strategy, in accordance with 
guidance issued from time to time by the Secretary of State. 

This Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) has been designed to be a living document and 
is an important governance tool for the Durham County Council Pension Fund (‘the 
Pension Fund’).  This document sets out the investment strategy of the Pension Fund, 
provides transparency in relation to how the Pension Fund investments are managed, 
acts as a risk register, and has been kept as short in order to be read in as user-friendly 
manner as is possible. This document replaces the Pension Fund’s Statement of 
Investment Principles.

This statement will be consulted on at least every three years and reviewed by the 
Pension Fund Committee (‘the Committee’) more frequently should any significant 
change occur.

2 Investment Responsibilities

The County Council, as Administering Authority for the Pension Fund, has delegated the 
investment arrangements of the Pension Fund to the Pension Fund Committee (the 
“Committee”) who decide on the investment policy most suitable to meet the liabilities of 
the Pension Fund and the ultimate responsibility for the investment policy lies with it. The 
Committee is made up of elected representatives of the County Council, Darlington 
Borough Council, Further Education Colleges, Other Statutory Bodies, Admitted Bodies 
and Member Representatives.

The Committee has full delegated authority to make investment decisions.

2.1 The Pension Fund Committee has responsibility for:

 Determining overall investment strategy and strategic asset allocation and 
ensuring that investments are sufficiently diversified, are not over concentrated 
in any one type of investment, and that the Pension Fund is invested in suitable 
types of investments;

Page 65



   

 Preparing policy documents including the ISS and Funding Strategy Statement 
(FSS). Monitoring compliance with the ISS and reviewing its contents following 
any strategic changes and at least every three years;

 Appointing the investment managers, custodian, the Pension Fund actuary and 
any independent external advisers felt to be necessary for the good stewardship 
of the Pension Fund;

 Reviewing on a regular basis the investment managers’ performance against 
established benchmarks, and satisfying themselves as to the investment 
managers’ expertise and the quality of their internal systems and controls;

 Reviewing on a regular basis the performance of the independent external 
advisers;

 In cases of unsatisfactory performance of the investment managers and 
independent external advisers, taking appropriate action;

 Reviewing policy on social, environmental and ethical matters and on the 
exercise of rights, including voting rights; and

 Reviewing the funds allocated to investment managers on a regular basis to 
ensure that the strategic asset allocation is maintained (rebalancing).

2.2 The investment managers are responsible for:

 The investment of the Pension Fund assets in respect of which they are 
appointed in compliance with applicable rules and legislation, the constraints 
imposed by this document and the detailed Investment Management Agreement 
covering their portion of the Pension Fund’s assets;

 Stock selection within asset classes;
 Preparation of quarterly reports, including a review of investment performance;
 Attending meetings of the Committee as requested;
 Where specifically instructed, voting in accordance with the Pension Fund’s 

policy.

2.3 The Global Custodian is responsible for:

 Its own compliance with prevailing legislation;
 Providing the administering authority with quarterly valuations of the Pension 

Fund’s assets and details of all transactions during the quarter;

Page 66



   

 Collection of income, tax reclaims, exercising corporate administration and cash 
management;

 Such other services as the Pension Fund shall procure, for example, in 
connection with performance measurement and reporting or fund accounting.

2.4 The Investment Adviser is responsible for:

 Assisting the Corporate Director Resources and the Committee in determining 
the overall investment strategy, the strategic asset allocation and that the 
Pension Fund is invested in suitable types of investment, and ensuring that 
investments are sufficiently diversified.

 Assisting the Corporate Director Resources and the Committee in the 
preparation and review of Policy documents;

 Assisting the Corporate Director Resources and the Committee in their regular 
monitoring of the investment managers’ performance;

 Assisting the Corporate Director Resources and the Committee, where required, 
in the selection and appointment of investment managers, custodians and 
Pension Fund Actuary;

 Advising and assisting the Corporate Director Resources and the Committee on 
other investment related issues, which may arise from time to time; and

 Providing continuing education and training to the Committee.

2.5 The Actuary is responsible for:

 Providing advice as to the structure of the Pension Fund’s liabilities, the maturity 
of the Pension Fund and its funding level in order to aid the Committee in 
balancing the short term and long-term objectives of the Pension Fund.

 Carrying out its responsibilities as set out in the FSS.
 Undertaking the statutory triennial valuation of the Pension Fund’s assets and 

liabilities.

2.6 The Corporate Director Resources is responsible for:

 Ensuring compliance with this document and bringing breaches thereof to the 
attention of the Committee; 

Page 67



   

 Ensuring that this document is regularly reviewed and updated in accordance 
with the 2016 Investment Regulations;

 Exercising delegated powers granted by the County Council to:
o Administer the financial affairs in relation to the County Council’s functions 

as a pension fund administering authority;
o Exercise those discretions under the Local Government Pension Scheme 

Regulations 2013 as appear from time to time in Pension Fund Statements 
of Policy; and

o Authorise, in cases of urgency, the taking of any action by an investment 
manager of the Pension Fund which is necessary to protect the interests of 
the Pension Fund.

o Managing the cash balances of the Pension Fund which the Investment 
Managers have not invested.

3 Investment Beliefs and Objectives

The Pension Fund has the following investment beliefs which help to inform the 
investment strategy derived from the decision making process:

 Funding, investment strategy and contribution rates are linked
 The strategic asset allocation is the key factor in determining the risk and return profile 

of the Pension Fund’s investments 
 Investing over the long term provides opportunities to improve returns
 Diversification across asset classes can help to mitigate against adverse market 

conditions and assist the Pension Fund to produce a smoother return profile due to 
returns coming from a range of different sources

 Managing risk is a multi-dimensional and complex task but the overriding principle is 
to avoid taking more risk than is necessary to achieve the Pension Fund’s objectives

 Environmental, Social and Governance are important factors for the sustainability of 
investment returns over the long term

 Value for money from investments is important, not just absolute costs. 
 Asset pooling will help reduce costs whilst providing more choice of investments and 

will therefore be additive to Pension Fund returns
 High conviction active management can add value to returns

Page 68



   

The Administering Authority's primary aim is long-term solvency. Accordingly, employers’ 
contributions will be set to ensure that 100% of the liabilities can be met over the long 
term. The Solvency Target is the amount of assets which the Fund requires to hold to 
meet its objective of paying all benefits arising as they fall due. 

4 Investment strategy and the process for ensuring suitability of investments. 

The Pension Fund’s objective is to pay benefits as they fall due. The Pension Fund is 
currently assessed to have a deficit in respect to previously accrued liabilities, and so the 
strategy is focused on recovering this deficit as well as maintaining affordable 
contributions for future benefit accrual, without taking undue risks. Having a thorough 
understanding of the risks facing the Pension Fund is crucial and these are covered later 
in the statement.

The Pension Fund’s asset strategy, along with an overview of the role each asset plays is 
set out in the table below:

Asset class Allocation 
%

Benchmark & 
Performance Target Role (s) within the strategy

Global 
Equities

15.0

15.0

MSCI All Country World 
Index (unhedged) in 
GBP terms +3%
MSCI World index 
+2.5%

Emerging 
Market 
Equities

7.0
MSCI Emerging 
Markets Net Index 
+2.5%

Long term growth in excess of 
inflation expected; Generate 
investment income i.e. 
dividends.

Index Linked 
Gilts 20.0

FTSE Over 5 Year 
Index-Linked Gilt Index 
+0.5%

Provide protection from 
changes in inflation both in 
terms of capital value and 
income

Global Bonds 15.0

UK 3-month LIBOR 
+3.0%

Diversified source of income 
and provides a degree of 
protection from changes in 
interest rates. Some growth 
above gilts expected

Page 69



   

Dynamic Asset 
Allocation 20.0 UK 3-month LIBOR 

+3.0%
Diversification and Tactical 
Asset Allocation

Global 
Property 8.0

UK Retail Price Inflation 
+5.0%

Diversification; Generate 
investment income; Provide 
some inflation-sensitive 
exposure; Illiquidity premium

The Committee is responsible for the Pension Fund’s asset allocation which is 
determined via a triennial strategy review as part of the valuation process. The review is 
both qualitative and quantitative and is undertaken by the Committee in conjunction with 
the actuary, officers and investment adviser. The review considers:

 The required level of return that will mean the Pension Fund can meet its future 
benefit obligations as they fall due

 The level of risk that the Pension Fund can tolerate in absolute terms, and in 
relation to its funding level and deficit

 An analysis of the order of magnitude of the various risks facing the Pension Fund  
is established  in order that a priority order for mitigation can be determined

 The desire for diversification across asset class, region, sector, and type of 
security.

5 Risk measurement and management 

The Committee assesses risks both qualitatively and quantitatively, with the starting point 
being the triennial strategy review. Risks are considered, understood and then prioritised 
accordingly. 

(a) Investment risks

The Committee uses Risk Attribution Analysis to determine the order of magnitude of the 
main investment risks the Pension Fund is facing. The chart below shows the VaR (Value 
at Risk, essentially the minimum losses that would occur in a 1-in-20 event) facing the 
Pension Fund, split into major risk categories.

Page 70



   

As an additional illustration of risk, the table below shows how a range of events (in 
isolation) could impact the Pension Fund:

Event Event movement Impact on Deficit

Fall in equity markets 30% fall in equities £305m

Rise in Inflation 1% increase in inflation To add once 
information available 
from Actuary

Fall in interest rates 1% fall in interest rates n/a

Active Manager underperformance 3% underperformance 
from all active 
managers

£78m

As shown in both the Value-at-Risk attribution chart and the table above, the most 
significant risk that the Pension Fund is running is in relation to equities. Whilst not 
immaterial the risks being run by the use of active management is far smaller.

Equities 
The largest risk that the Pension Fund is running is in relation to its equity holdings. 
Should equity market conditions deteriorate significantly this will have a negative 
impact on the funding level. The Pension Fund holds equities in order to provide 

Page 71



   

the necessary returns to ensure that the Pension Fund remains affordable. The 
Committee believes that the extra returns that are expected to be generated by 
equities compensates the level of risk equities bring to the Pension Fund, but does 
believe in diversification, and looks to mitigate equity risk by investing significantly 
in bonds and alternatives.   The Pension Fund is a long term investor but does 
require income over and above contributions received in order to pay pensions.  A 
strategy is therefore being investigated that would seek income from alternative 
assets and bonds, rather than from equities, in order to avoid being a forced seller 
at a low point in the market. 

Inflation 
The Pension Fund’s liabilities are impacted by inflation both explicitly and implicitly. 
The Pension Fund will seek to invest in a range of assets that provide returns in 
excess of inflation and in some cases provide an inflation linked income, subject to 
a tolerable level of volatility. 

Alternatives
The Pension Fund has a significant amount of assets allocated to a range of 
alternatives; primarily via a dynamic asset allocation fund, but also through 
property. The level of diversification these assets provide helps to reduce the 
Funds reliance on returns from equities.  Illiquid assets such as property can also 
be a valuable source of income.

Active Manager Risk
Investment Managers are appointed to manage the Pension Fund’s investments 
on its behalf.  This risk is small relative to other risks; however the Pension Fund 
still addresses this risk.  Extensive due diligence is used before managers are 
selected, with a number of different managers chosen to prevent concentration risk  
The investment managers are also monitored regularly by the Committee, Officers 
and by the Pension Fund’s investment adviser.

The Pension Fund’s portfolio is well diversified across asset classes, geography and 
asset managers. As different asset classes have varying correlations with other asset 
classes, the Pension Fund by investing in a range of different investments can minimise 
the level of risk run to a degree.

(b) Demographic Risks 

Page 72



   

The Pension Fund is subject to a range of demographic risks, but with particular 
reference to investment strategy, the Committee is aware of the potential for the Pension 
Fund to mature over time as the pensioner liability increases.   A mature pension fund is 
likely to take less investment risk over time and this is considered at each strategy review.  
The more mature a pension fund, the more likely it is that disinvestments would need to 
be made to pay benefits.  The Pension Fund is not in that situation at present as income 
from contributions and investments are greater than benefit payments.  However, this 
situation is monitored regularly and formally as part of the actuarial valuation and strategy 
review. 

(c) Cashflow Management Risks

The Pension Fund is becoming more mature and although it is cashflow positive after 
taking investment income into account, managing cashflow will become an increasingly 
important consideration in agreeing the investment strategy. Should this position change 
and cash outflows exceed cash inflows, mitigating actions would be taken such as 
investing in assets which produce cashflows.

(d) Governance Risks

The Pension Fund believes that there is a benefit to the Pension Fund to be gained from 
good governance in the form of either or both of an increased return and/or decreased 
risk.  Poor governance could lead to opportunities and risks being missed, and have a 
detrimental effect on the funding level and deficit.

(e) Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG’) Risks

The Committee believes that ESG risks should be taken into account on an ongoing basis 
and are an integral part of the Pension Fund’s strategy and objective of being a long term 
investor.  

The Committee believes that engagement is key in relation to strong corporate 
governance, which in turn will enhance returns.  Details of the Pension Fund’s policies 
can be found later in this statement.
 

Page 73



   

6 Approach to asset pooling

In order to satisfy the requirements of the Local Government Pension Scheme: 
Investment Reform and Guidance issued by the Department for Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) in November 2015, the Administering Authority has elected to 
become a shareholder in Border to Coast Pensions Partnership (BCPP) Limited. BCPP 
Limited will be an FCA (Financial Conduct Authority) regulated Operator and Alternative 
Investment Fund Manager (AIFM). 
BCPP is a partnership of the administering authorities of the following Funds:

 Bedfordshire Pension Fund
 Cumbria Pension Fund
 Durham Pension Fund
 East Riding Pension Fund
 Lincolnshire Pension Fund
 North Yorkshire Pension Fund
 Northumberland Pension Fund
 South Yorkshire Pension Fund
 South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Pension Fund
 Surrey Pension Fund
 Teesside Pension Fund
 Tyne and Wear Pension Fund
 Warwickshire Pension Fund

The partner Funds submitted their proposal to Government on 15th July 2016 and have 
received written confirmation from the Secretary of State to confirm that the proposal 
meets the criteria laid down in the guidance issued in November 2015 and set out below: 

a) Asset pool(s) that achieve the benefits of scale;
b) Strong governance and decision making;
c) Reduced costs and excellent value for money; and
d) An improved capacity to invest in infrastructure.

Page 74



   

The proposed governance structure of BCPP is as follows:

Assets to be invested in BCPP Ltd

The Pension Fund’s intention is to invest its assets via BCPP Ltd as and when suitable 
sub-funds become available.  An indicative timetable for participating administering 
authorities to invest through BCPP Ltd was set out in the July 2016 submission to 
Government.  

The key criteria for the Pension Fund’s assessment of a BCPP Ltd sub-funds will be as 
follows:
 that the sub-fund enables access to an appropriate investment that meets the 

objectives and benchmark criteria set by the Pension Fund; and
 that there is financial benefit to the Pension Fund in investing in the sub-fund offered 

by BCPP Ltd.

At the time of preparing this statement, the detailed parameters and objectives of the 
BCPP sub-fund range were not finalised.

The Pension Fund has determined that the following assets will be held outside of BCPP 
Ltd:

Page 75



   

 any investments in closed end funds that may be made as a result of the 2017 
strategy review, though new allocations to these asset classes will be made through 
BCPP Ltd once suitable sub-funds have been established;

 investments in pooled property funds, though new allocations to property will be made 
through BCPP Ltd once suitable sub-funds have been established, and existing 
investments will be transferred once a cost effective way of transferring is established. 

Any investments in closed end funds will remain with the Pension Fund for the remaining 
fixed life of these investment vehicles, until all assets have been returned to the Pension 
Fund.  There is no liquid secondary market for these types of investment and there is a 
risk that sales would only be possible at material discounts to net asset value. Therefore, 
the Committee is of the view that it is in the best interests of the Pension Fund to retain 
these investments. 

Any assets not invested in BCPP Ltd will be reviewed at least every three years to 
determine whether the rationale remains appropriate, and whether it continues to 
demonstrate value for money.  The next such review will take place no later than 2020.

Structure and governance of BCPP Ltd

The July 2016 submission to Government of the proposed BCPP pooling arrangement 
provided a statement addressing the structure and governance of the arrangement, the 
mechanisms by which the Pension Fund can hold the BCPP Ltd to account and the 
services that will be shared or jointly procured.  

At the time of preparing this statement, the terms on which the administering authority will 
participate in BCPP Ltd, both as an owner (via a shareholding) and as a customer (via a 
seat on the Joint Committee) were not finalised.  As the pooling arrangement develops 
and the structure and governance are fully established, the Pension Fund will include this 
information in future iterations of the ISS.

7 Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance policy and policy of the 
exercise of rights (including voting rights) attaching to investments 

The Committee must act with the best financial interests of the beneficiaries, present and 
future, in mind. The Committee believes that companies should be aware of the potential 

Page 76



   

risks associated with adopting practices that are socially, environmentally or ethically 
unacceptable. As part of the investment decision-making process, Investment Managers 
are required to consider such practices and assess the extent to which this will detract 
from company performance and returns to shareholders.

Investment Managers are required to exercise voting rights on behalf of the Pension Fund 
when it is in the best interests of the Pension Fund. The quarterly report from investment 
managers should include details of voting activity.

The Pension Fund has never sought to implement a policy that explicitly excludes certain 
types of investments, companies or sectors except where they are barred by UK law. The 
Pension Fund believes that its influence as a shareholder is better deployed by engaging 
with companies, in order to influence behaviour and enhance shareholder value. The 
Pension Fund believes that this influence would be lost through a divestment or screening 
approach. The Pension Fund actively engages with companies through its investment 
managers.

Ultimately the Pension Fund will always retain the right to disinvest from certain 
companies or sectors in the event that all other approaches are unsuccessful and it is 
determined that the investment is no longer aligned with the interests of the Pension Fund 
or that the issue poses a material financial risk.

The Pension Fund is committed to the principles of active asset ownership set out in the 
UK Stewardship Code and is developing a statement of compliance for assessment by 
the Financial Reporting Council.

Myners Principles

Although not specifically referenced in the Regulations, the Committee feels that 
assessment of compliance with the Myners Principles is a valuable governance tool. A 
copy of the Pension Fund’s Myners Compliance Statement can be found in Appendix 1. 

Advice Taken 

In creating this statement, the Pension Fund has taken advice from its Investment 
Adviser.  Also, in relation to each of the constituent parts, such as the asset allocation 

Page 77



   

and risk mitigation, the Pension Fund has taken advice from its Investment Adviser, 
Mercer, and the Scheme Actuary, Aon Hewitt.  In providing investment advice, Mercer is 
regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.  

Page 78



   

Appendix 1 – Myners Principles

This appendix sets out the extent to which Durham County Council as the Administering 
Authority of the Durham County Council Pension Fund complies with the six principles of 
investment practice set out in the document published in November 2012 by CIPFA, the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, and called "Principles for 
Investment Decision Making and Disclosure in the Local Government Pension Scheme in 
the United Kingdom 2012”, in future, compliance with guidance given by the Secretary of 
State will be reported. 

Principle 1 —Effective decision-making

Fully compliant: Investment decisions are made by those with the skill, information and 
resources necessary to take them effectively. A programme covering investment issues is 
being developed for new members joining the Committee and training is provided to all 
members. 

Principle 2 –Clear objectives

Fully compliant: The overall investment objective for the Pension Fund is set out in the 
Funding Strategy Statement. 

Principle 3 –Risk and Liabilities

Fully compliant: The overall investment objective is considered by the Pension Fund. The 
risks associated with the major asset classes in which the Pension Fund’s assets are 
invested is regularly considered. A risk register has been completed for the Pension Fund 
and reports from Internal and External Audit are considered by the Committee. 

Principle 4 –Performance Assessment

Partial compliance: Appropriate benchmarks have been set in consultation with the 
investment adviser and the actuary. Benchmarks are considered regularly as part of the 

Page 79



   

review of the Strategic Asset Allocation. Performance against benchmarks is considered 
quarterly at the Committee. Investment Managers’ performance is measured quarterly. 
Separate monitoring of Committee performance and investment adviser performance has 
yet to be established. 

Principle 5 –Responsible Ownership

Partial compliance: The Pension Fund’s policy for socially responsible investing is set out 
in the Statement of Investment Principles and (from April 2017) the Investment Strategy 
Statement. Explicit written mandates agreed with all investment managers. Investment 
Managers are required to exercise voting rights on behalf of the Pension Fund when it is 
in the best interests of the Pension Fund. Normal practice is to allow the Investment 
Managers to follow their in-house voting policy unless otherwise instructed by the 
Committee. The mandates do not specifically incorporate the principle of the US 
Department of Labor Interpretative Bulletin on activism. 

Principle 6 –Transparency and Reporting

Fully compliant: The Committee acts in a transparent manner, communicating with its 
stakeholders on issues relating to their management of investment, its governance and 
risks, including performance against stated objectives through the publication of 
Committee reports and Minutes on the County Council website. The Funding Strategy 
Statement and the Statement of Investment Principles are also available on the internet 
and are included in the Pension Fund’s Annual Report and Accounts. The Annual Report 
and Accounts includes the statutory documents that the Pension Fund is required to 
provide. 

The Pension Fund provides regular communication to scheme members in a Newsletter 
and Annual Statements which are considered the most appropriate form.

Page 80



Pension Fund Committee

7 March 2017

Agreement of Accounting Policies for 
Application in the 2016/17 Financial 
Statements of the Pension Fund

John Hewitt, Corporate Director Resources

Purpose of the Report

1. To inform the Pension Fund Committee of the accounting policies to be 
applied in the preparation of the 2016/17 Final Accounts and to seek 
confirmation from the Committee that appropriate policies are being 
applied.

Background 

2. Although the Audit Committee have responsibility for the approval of 
the Statement of Accounts which contains the Pension Fund Accounts, 
the Pension Fund Committee ought to approve the Accounting Policies 
to be used in the preparation of those accounts.

Accounting Policies

3. It is a requirement of the Local Government Act 2003 and the Accounts 
and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 for the Statement of Accounts to 
be produced in accordance with proper accounting practices.  The 
‘Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 2016/17’ (the Code) as 
published by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) incorporates these requirements and therefore 
must be followed in completing the Accounts.  

4. Accounting policies are defined in the Code as “the specific principles 
bases, conventions, rules and practices applied by an authority in 
preparing and presenting financial statements”.

5. Accounting policies need not be applied if the effect of applying them 
would be immaterial.  Materiality is defined in the Code as it applies to 
omissions and misstatements:

Omissions or misstatements of items are material if they could, 
individually or collectively, influence the decisions or assessments of 
users made on the basis of the financial statements.  Materiality 
depends on the nature or size of the omission or misstatement judged 

Page 81

Agenda Item 8



in the surrounding circumstances.  The nature or size of the item, or a 
combination of both, could be the determining factor.

6. The accounting policies applicable to the Pension Fund, in the main, 
relate to the valuation of assets held and the recognition of the 
contributions and benefits.  

7. The proposed accounting policies are in line with those used in the 
preparation of the 2015/16 accounts and there have been no changes 
to the Code necessitating a change for 2016/17.

8. The full list of accounting policies for the Pension Fund that it is 
proposed to disclose in the Statement of Accounts notes is detailed in 
Appendix 1.

Recommendations

9. The Committee is recommended to:

 review the accounting policies; 

 approve their use in the preparation of the 2016/17 financial 
statements for the Pension Fund; and 

 authorise the Corporate Director Resources to revise the 
accounting policies as necessary and report any significant 
changes to the Committee.

Contact: Beverley White Tel: 03000 261900

Page 82



Appendix 1:  Accounting Policies for 2016/17

Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below will be applied consistently to all periods 
presented in the accounts. The accounts will be prepared on the normal 
accruals basis of accounting (except individual transfer values to and from the 
scheme, which are accounted for on a cash basis).

FUND ACCOUNT

Contributions receivable
Contribution income is categorised and recognised as follows:

 normal contributions, from both members and employers, are 
accounted for on an accruals basis;

 employer’s augmentation contributions are accounted for in the year 
in which they become due;

 employer’s deficit funding contributions are accounted for in the year 
in which they become due in accordance with the Rates and 
Adjustment Certificate set by the actuary or on receipt, if earlier than 
the due date.

Transfers to and from other schemes
Transfer values represent amounts paid to or received from other local and 
public authorities, private, occupational or personal pension schemes in 
respect of pension rights already accumulated by employees transferring from 
or to the participating authorities. 

Individual transfer values paid and received are accounted for on a cash basis 
as the amount payable or receivable is not determined until payment is made 
and accepted by the recipient. Bulk (Group) transfers, both out and in, are 
accounted for in full in the year in which the transfer value is agreed by 
Durham County Council Pension Fund.

Pension benefits payable
Pension benefits are recognised and recorded in the accounting records and 
reported in the financial statements as an expense in the period to which the 
benefit relates. Any amounts due, but yet to be paid, are disclosed in the Net 
Assets Statement as current liabilities.

Management expenses
All management expenses, which include administrative expenses, 
investment management expenses and oversight and governance costs, are 
accounted for on an accruals basis. 

All staffing and overhead costs of the pensions administration team are 
allocated to the Pension Fund as administrative expenses. 

Page 83



Fees of the external Investment Managers and Custodian are agreed in the 
respective mandates governing their appointments. Note 11 provides further 
information regarding the basis of Investment Managers’ Fees. Where an 
Investment Manager’s fee note has not been received by the balance sheet 
date, an estimate based upon the market value of their mandate as at the end 
of the financial year is used for inclusion in the Fund Account.

Oversight and governance costs include costs relating to the pension fund 
accounting team, which are apportioned on the basis of staff time spent on the 
Fund and include all associated overheads, plus legal, actuarial and 
investments advisory services. 

Investment income
Investment income is accounted for as follows:

 income from equities is recognised in the fund account on the date 
stocks are quoted ex-dividend; 

 income from fixed interest and index-linked securities, cash and short-
term deposits is accounted for on an accruals basis;

 interest income is recognised in the fund account as it accrues;
 income from other investments is accounted for on an accruals basis;
 income from overseas investments is recorded net of any withholding 

tax where this cannot be recovered;
 foreign income has been translated into sterling at the date of the 

transactions, when received during the year, or at the exchange rates 
applicable on the last working day in March, where amounts were still 
outstanding at the year end;

 changes in the net market value of investments are recognised as 
income and comprise all realised and unrealised profits/ losses during 
the year.

Taxation
The Fund is a registered public service scheme under Section 1(1) of 
Schedule 36 of the Finance Act 2004 and as such is exempt from UK income 
tax on interest received and from capital gains tax on the proceeds of 
investments sold. Income from overseas investments suffers withholding tax 
in the country of origin, unless exemption is permitted. Irrecoverable tax would 
normally be accounted for as a fund expense as it arises, however when 
Investment Managers are not able to supply the necessary information, no 
taxation is separately disclosed in the Fund Account. 

NET ASSETS STATEMENT

Valuation of Investments
Investments are included in the accounts at their fair value as at the reporting 
date. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. 

Page 84



All prices in foreign currency are translated into sterling at the prevailing rate 
on the last working day of March.

An investment asset is recognised in the Net Assets Statement on the date 
the Fund becomes party to the contractual acquisition of the asset. From this 
date any gains or losses arising from changes to the fair value of the asset are 
recognised by the Fund.

The values of investments as shown in the Net Assets Statement have been 
determined as follows:

 Quoted equity securities, traded on an exchange, are accounted for 
on a bid market price basis, where Investment Managers provide 
valuations in this manner;

 Fixed interest securities, traded on an exchange, are accounted for at 
bid market price where Investment Managers provide valuations in 
this manner;

 Index linked securities are valued at bid market value where 
Investment Managers provide valuations in this manner;

 Unitised managed funds are valued at the closing bid price if bid and 
offer prices are reported by the relevant exchange and in the 
Investment Manager’s valuation report. Single priced unitised 
managed funds are valued at the reported price;

 Unquoted equity investments are accounted for on an estimated price 
of the investments held. Investment Managers use valuation 
techniques to establish a price at the year end date based on an 
arm’s length exchange given normal business considerations;

 Derivative contracts outstanding at the year end are included in the 
Net Assets Statement at fair value (as provided by Investment 
Managers) and gains and losses arising are recognised in the Fund 
Account as at 31 March. The value of foreign currency contracts is 
based on market forward exchange rates at the reporting date; all 
other derivative contracts are valued using exchange prices at the 
reporting date. 

Where Investment Managers are unable to supply investment valuations in 
line with the above policies, valuations will be included as supplied by the 
Investment Manager, usually at mid-market price.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash comprises cash in hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are 
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

Page 85



Contingent Assets
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives a 
possible asset which will only be confirmed by the occurrence of uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the Pension Fund. Contingent 
assets are not recognised in the Net Assets Statement however details are 
disclosed in a Note within the accounts.

Investment transactions
Investment transactions arising up to 31 March but not settled until later are 
accrued in the accounts. All purchases and sales of investments in foreign 
currency are accounted for in sterling at the prevailing rate on the transaction 
date.

Acquisition costs of investments
Acquisition costs of investments are added to book cost at the time of 
purchase.

Financial liabilities
The Fund recognises financial liabilities at fair value as at the reporting date. A 
financial liability is recognised in the Net Assets Statement on the date the 
Fund becomes party to the liability. From this date any gains or losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of the liability are recognised by the Fund.

Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits
The actual present value of promised retirement benefits is assessed on a 
triennial basis by the scheme actuary in accordance with the requirements of 
IAS 19 and relevant actuarial standards. As permitted under IAS 26 the 
Pension Fund has opted to disclose the actuarial present value of promised 
retirement benefits by way of a note to the accounts.

Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVCs)
The Fund provides an additional voluntary contribution (AVC) scheme for its 
members, the assets of which are invested separately from those of the Fund. 
In accordance with LGPS Regulations, AVCs are not recognised as income or 
assets in the Pension Fund Accounts, however a summary of the scheme and 
transactions are disclosed in a note to the accounts.

If, however, AVCs are used to purchase extra years’ service from the Pension 
Fund, this is recognised as contribution income in the Fund’s accounts on an 
accruals basis. Amounts received in this way can be found in a note in the 
accounts as additional contributions from members.

Page 86



Pension Fund Committee

07 March 2017

Internal Audit Plan 2017/2018 

Report of Paul Bradley, Chief Internal Auditor & Corporate Fraud 
Manager

Purpose of the report

1 To present the proposed Annual Audit Plan for 2017/18 for approval.

Background

2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), which came into effect 
from April 2013, define internal audit as, “an independent, objective assurance 
and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s 
operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a 
systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of 
risk management, control and governance processes.” 

3 The agreed terms of reference for the internal audit service to fulfil this 
objective are detailed in the Internal Audit Charter.

2017/18 Audit Plan

4 The Audit Plan for 2017/18 has been developed following discussions 
between officers from Internal Audit and officers who have responsibility for 
the Pension Fund, using the strategic audit plan as the basis of the 
discussion. The proposed plan is shown in the table below. 

Audit Title Audit Type
Payroll Assurance
Investments Advice and Consultancy
Additional Voluntary Contributions Assurance
Bank reconciliation Assurance
Admitted Bodies Assurance
National Fraud Initiative – Identification of potential error/fraud Counter Fraud
Management time and ad hoc advice Advice and Consultancy

Recommendation

5 Members are asked to approve the proposed audit plan for 2017/18.

Contact: Paul Monaghan Tel: 03000 269662

Page 87

Agenda Item 9



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance

The audit fee for the 2017/18 internal audit plan, to be delivered by the DCC Internal 
Audit Service, which is chargeable direct to the Pension Fund, remains the same as 
2016/17 at £19,500.

Staffing

None

Risk

None

Equality and Diversity/Public Sector Equality Duty

None

Accommodation

None

Crime and disorder

None

Human rights

None

Consultation

None

Procurement

None

Disability Issues

None

Legal Implications

None

Page 88



 

 

Audit Strategy Memorandum 

Durham County Council Pension Fund 

 

 

 

 

For the year ended 31 March 2017  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  P
age 89

A
genda Item

 10



 

2 
 

  

Contents 
 

Executive summary .................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 3 

Purpose of this report ........................................................................................................................................................................................................ 3 

Audit scope and approach ....................................................................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Significant risks and key judgements ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Timetable and communication ................................................................................................................................................................................................ 7 

Fees .......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 9 

Our team ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 10 

Appendix A – Service organisations and experts ................................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Appendix B – Independence .................................................................................................................................................................................................. 12 

Appendix C - Materiality ........................................................................................................................................................................................................ 13 

Appendix D – Our added value .............................................................................................................................................................................................. 14 

 

P
age 90



 

3 
 

Executive summary 
Purpose of this report 

The Audit Strategy Memorandum sets out our audit plan in respect of the audit of Durham County Council Pension Fund ‘the Fund’ for the year ending 31 

March 2017, and forms the basis for discussion at the Audit Committee meeting on 24 February 2017. 

The plan sets out our proposed audit approach and is prepared to assist you in fulfilling your governance responsibilities. The responsibilities of those charged 

with governance are defined as overseeing the strategic direction of the entity and obligations related to the accountability of the entity, including overseeing 

the financial reporting process.  We have determined that the Audit Committee] is those charged with governance for the purpose of our audit. 

 

Timing of our work 

Our audit will be delivered in four main phases as outlined in page 8 of this report.  The statutory deadline for the completion of 

our audit work is 30 September 2017. 

In 2018 the statutory deadline for preparation of draft accounts will move forward from 30 June to 31 May, and the statutory 

deadline for completion of audit work will move forward from 30 September to 31 July. To help prepare them for the 2018 revised 

deadlines, officers are aiming for 31 May deadline for preparation of the accounts. As agreed with officers and on the basis that all 

necessary working papers and third party confirmations are received as requested, we are aiming to issue the Audit Completion 

Report and audit opinion by 31 July. 

Financial Statements 

audit  

Significant risks 

We have identified the following areas in which we will carry out specific audit procedures to mitigate the risks of material 

misstatements:   

 management override of controls; and 

 valuation of unquoted investments for which a market price is not readily available. 

 

Materiality 

At the planning stage of the audit we have set materiality for the financial statements as a whole at £11.04m.  

In reporting the results of our work we do not report identified misstatements below a clearly trivial level.  We have set this level at 

£0.33m. 

Independence 
We have considered any actual, potential or perceived threats to our independence on page 14.  We have not identified any such 

threats at this stage of the audit.  

  

P
age 91



 

4 
 

Audit scope and approach
The scope of our work 

The detailed scope of our work as your appointed auditor for 2016/17 is set 

out in the National Audit Office’s (NAO) Code of Audit Practice.  Our 

responsibilities and powers are derived from the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 (‘the 2014 Act’) and are summarised below.  

 

Opinion on the financial statements 

We are responsible for forming and expressing an opinion on the financial 

statements. Our audit is planned and performed so to provide reasonable 

assurance that the financial statements are free from material error and give 

a true and fair view of the financial performance and position of the Fund for 

the year.   

Our audit does not relieve management or the Audit Committee, as those 

charged with governance, of their responsibilities.  

 

Electors’ rights 

The 2014 Act requires us to give an elector, or any representative of the 

elector, the opportunity to question us about the accounting records of the 

Fund and consider any objection made to the accounts by an elector.  We 

also have a broad range of reporting responsibilities and powers that are 

unique to the audit of local authorities in the United Kingdom. 

 

 

Our response to the risk of fraud 

International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) require us to obtain reasonable 

assurance that the financial statements are free from material fraud and/or 

error.  There are a range of ways in which fraud may arise in the context of 

your financial statements and we formally consider the risk of fraud as part 

of our planning work and design appropriate procedures to mitigate risks 

identified.  We maintain an appropriate level of professional scepticism 

throughout the audit and are mindful that a material misstatement due to 

fraud is possible, however our audit should not be relied upon to identify all 

such misstatements. 

 

 

Management and the Audit Committee, as those charged with governance 

also have responsibilities in respect of fraud.  They are responsible for 

safeguarding assets and for the prevention and detection of fraud, error and 

non-compliance with laws and regulations.   

 

Our enquiries will focus on: 

 what role the Audit Committee has in relation to fraud and how it is 

kept informed of fraud related matters by management; 

 what anti-fraud measures you have in place and how your policies 

and procedures are monitored; and 

 whether you are aware of any actual, alleged or suspected fraud. 

 

We will formally write to you, in your role as those charged with governance, 

making the enquiries above, during our audit. 

 

 

Our approach to obtaining assurance over service organisations 

There are material entries in your financial statements where the Fund is 

dependent on an external organisation. We call these entities service 

organisations. In Appendix A, we outline our approach to understanding the 

services received from each organisation and the approach we intend to 

take to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence over items of account that 

derive from them. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 92



 

5 
 

Our use of experts and other auditors 

Management and auditor experts 

There are material entries in your financial statements which are provided 

by management experts.  For some of these entries, we will use our own 

expert to provide us with the assurance we require in relation to the work of 

your expert.  

In addition to setting out information in respect of service organisations, 

Appendix A also summarises management’s experts and our planned audit 

approach to obtaining assurance over their work. 

 

Internal audit 

Where appropriate, we will seek to rely on work performed by internal audit 

where it provides us with the required assurance.  We will meet with internal 

audit to discuss their work programme and findings, and factor this in when 

determining the most efficient testing strategy. 

Where we intend to rely on the work of internal audit, we will evaluate their 

work and perform our own audit procedures to determine its adequacy for 

our audit.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Audit efficiency and our use of IT 

Innovative and integrated use of IT drives the efficiency and effectiveness 

of our audit.  Your audit team uses the latest IT-based audit solutions and is 

supported by a team of IT auditors each of who have extensive knowledge 

of providing assurance and advisory services across the public sector. 

 

We know that all organisations are different 

and face different risks.  Our audit platform 

is modern and flexible and allows us to 

tailor our audit approach to the specific 

risks relevant to the Fund, while ensuring 

compliance with underlying auditing 

standards. 

 

We focus on the risks that give rise to a risk 

of material misstatement in the financial 

statements.  Your audit team has access to 

a full suite of data analytics tools which 

allow them to determine the most effective 

and efficient testing strategy using IT-audit 

techniques where appropriate. 

 

 

 

Risk 

assessment 

Audit 

assurance 

Added value 

services 

P
age 93



 

6 
 

Significant risks and key judgements 
Identified significant risks 

As part of our planning procedures we have considered whether there are risks of material misstatement in the Fund’s financial statements that require special 

audit consideration. Although we report identified significant risks at the planning stage of the audit, our risk assessment is a continuous process and we 

regularly consider whether new significant risks have arisen and how we intend to mitigate these risks.  Where we identify any significant risks in addition to 

those set out below, we will report these to the Audit Committee as part of our Audit Completion Report. 

 

Significant risk  How we will mitigate the risk 

Management override of control 

In all entities, management at various levels within an organisation are in a 

unique position to perpetrate fraud because of their ability to manipulate 

accounting records and prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding 

controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. Due to the 

unpredictable way in which such overrides could occur, we consider there to 

be a risk of material misstatement due to fraud and thus a significant risk on all 

audits. 

We will address this risk by performing audit work in the following areas: 

 accounting estimates affecting amounts included in the financial 
statements; 

 consideration of identified significant transactions outside the normal 
course of business; and 

 journals recorded in the general ledger and other adjustments made in 
preparation of the financial statements. 

Valuation of unquoted investments for which a market price is not 

readily available  

As at 31 March 2016 the fair value of investments which were not quoted on 

an active market was £154m, which accounted for 6.7 per cent of net 

investment assets. The values used in the accounts are those provided by 

fund managers which are based on Net Asset Value statements. This results 

in an increased risk of material misstatement. 

In addition to our standard program of work we will: 

 evaluate management controls over the valuation process; 

 agree holdings from fund manager reports to the global custodian’s 
report; 

 agree the valuation to supporting documentation including investment 
manager valuation statements and cashflows for any adjustments made 
to the investment manager valuation;  

 agree the investment manager valuation to audited accounts. Where 
these are not available, agree the investment manager valuation to 
other independent supporting documentation; 

 where audited accounts are available, check that they are supported by 
a clear opinion; and 

 agree the price to independent evidence, for those valuations not 
supported by valuation statements. 

P
age 94



 

7 
 

Timetable and communication  
Our approach to communication 

International Standards on Auditing require us to communicate a number of 

matters with you at various points during the audit cycle.  Later in this section 

we outline exactly how we will communicate with the Audit Committee as 

those charged with governance.  As well as being an integral part of our 

responsibilities under auditing standards, we see two-way communication 

with the Audit Committee and officers as being critical to building a robust 

knowledge of your operations, the risks and challenges you face and the 

plans you have in place to meet those challenges.   

Audit timetable 

The diagram below outlines the main phases of your audit, when each will 

be carried out and the outputs that you will receive at each stage.  This is 

underpinned by a ‘no surprises’ approach to communication that ensures 

management and the Audit Committee are kept aware of significant issues 

on a timely basis.  We intend to issue our Audit Strategy Memorandum in 

February 2017, our Audit Completion Report in July 2017 and our Annual 

Audit Letter in September 2017.  
The timetable is based on the Fund providing a complete statement of 

accounts and supporting working papers by the end of May 2017. Where 

this is not the case we will communicate to the Audit Committee.   

 

Fieldwork stage – June 2017 – July 2017 

We complete the bulk of our audit testing at the fieldwork 

stage, building on the work already done at interim.   

Key reporting and communication outputs 

- Regular update meetings with the finance team 

 

Completion stage – July 2017 

- Final review of the financial statements 

- Reviewing post balance sheet events 

- Partner review of the audit file 

- Agreeing the letter of representation 

Key reporting and communication outputs 

- Audit Completion Report 

- Auditor’s report 

Interim stage – February / March 2017 

- Document and test systems and controls 

- Carry out IT audit testing using our IT specialists 

- Perform early substantive testing 

Key reporting and communication outputs 

- Audit progress and update report 

Planning stage - November 2016 – February 2017 

- Updating our understanding of the Fund 

- Risk assessment 

- Developing our audit testing strategy 

- Agreeing our audit timetable 

Key reporting and communication outputs 

- Audit Strategy Memorandum 

1 

2 3 

4 

P
age 95



 

8 
 

Key communication points 

ISA 260 ‘Communication with those charged with governance’ and ISA 265 ‘Communicating deficiencies in internal control to those charged with governance 

and management’, require us to communicate a number of matters to you.  These matters are set out below. 

 

Matter to be communicated 
Audit Strategy 

Memorandum 

Audit Completion 

Report 

Our responsibilities in relation to the audit of the financial statements and our wider responsibilities   

Planned scope and timing of the audit   

Significant audit risks and areas of management judgement   

Confirmation of our independence   

Responsibilities for preventing and detecting errors   

Materiality   

Fees for audit and other services   

Significant deficiencies in internal control   

Significant findings from the audit   

Significant matters discussed with management   

Conclusions on the significant audit risks and areas of management judgement   

Summary of unadjusted misstatements   

Management representation letter   

Our proposed audit report   

 

 

In addition to the matters outlined above which we are required to communicate under auditing standards, we also communicate regularly with the Audit 

Committee through our Audit Progress Reports, presented on a quarterly basis.  We also report to the Council on an annual basis to summarise our work and 

main conclusions through our Annual Audit Letter.

P
age 96



 

9 
 

Fees   
Fees for work as the Fund’s appointed auditor 

At this stage of the audit we are not planning any divergence from the scale fees set by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) as communicated to you 

in our fee letter dated 15 April 2016. 

 

Area of work 
2016/17 

proposed fee 

2015/16  

final fee 

Code audit work 25,918 25,918 

 

Fees for non-PSAA work 

We do not currently plan to carry out any non-PSAA work. 

 

P
age 97



 

10 
 

Our team  
 

Mark Kirkham – Engagement Lead 

mark.kirkham@mazars.co.uk 

0191 383 6350 

 

This is Mark’s first year as engagement lead at the Fund. Mark has been an external audit engagement lead since 2002. 

 

 

 

 

 

Sharon Liddle – Engagement Manager 

sharon.liddle@mazars.co.uk 

0191 383 6311 

 

Sharon has been manager at the Fund since 2015. Prior to this she was the team leader on the audit. Sharon will manage and coordinate 

the different parts of the audit. She will be the key point of contact for the finance team 

 

 

 

 

Chris Kneale – Team Leader 

chris.kneale@mazars.co.uk 

0191 383 6337 

 

Chris has been team leader on the audit since 2015. Chris will be a key contact for the finance team, leading the day-to-day audit, reviewing 

the work of more junior members of the team and performing the audit work in more specialised areas.  

 

 

 

In accordance with our internal policies for audit quality and risk management, we consider the audit of the Fund to be a ‘major audit’. As a result, and in line 

with the requirements of International Standards on Quality Control (ISQC) 1, the firm’s Risk Management Partner has appointed an Engagement Quality 

Control Reviewer to the Fund’s audit who will bring an additional level of quality control to the engagement team. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 98

mailto:mark.kirkham@mazars.co.uk
mailto:sharon.liddle@mazars.co.uk
mailto:chris.kneale@mazars.co.uk


 

11 
 

Appendix A – Service organisations and experts 
 

Service organisations 

As we outline in the main body of this report, the Fund makes use of service organisations.  ISA 402 defines a service organisation as one that provides services 

to another entity that form part of that entity’s information systems relevant to financial reporting.  The table below sets out the service organisations that we 

have identified as part of our planning work together with a description of how we intend to obtain assurance over the entries in your financial statements that 

are derived from them. 

 

Service organisation Services provided Planned audit approach 

AB 

BlackRock 

CBRE 

Royal London Asset Management 

Mondrian Investment Partners 

Aberdeen Asset Management 

BNY Mellon Water Scott 

Investment managers 
We will substantively test transactions 

undertaken by the service organisations 

during the year and the valuations applied to 

investments at the year end. 

JP Morgan Custodian 

 

Experts 

The Fund also uses experts to provide entries in its financial statements.  The table below outlines the areas of the financial statements where we expect the 

Fund to use experts and an explanation of the approach we will take to obtaining assurance over those entries. 

Financial statement area Management’s expert Planned audit approach 

Disclosure notes on the funding arrangements 

and actuarial present value of promised retirement 

benefits.  

Actuary Aon Hewitt 
Review and consideration of work undertaken 

by the NAO’s consulting actuary (PWC). 

Disclosure notes on the nature and extent of risk 

arising from financial instruments 
Mercer Limited 

Consider the reasonableness of Mercer’s 

output and assess expertise and experience 

of expert. 

 

 

P
age 99



 

12 
 

Appendix B – Independence 
We are required by the Financial Reporting Council to confirm to you at least annually in writing, that we comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical 

Standards. In addition we communicate any matters or relationship which we believe may have a bearing on our independence or the objectivity of the audit 

team. 

 

Based on the information provided by you, and our own internal procedures to safeguard our independence as auditors, we confirm that in our professional 

judgement, there are no relationships between us, and any of our related or subsidiary entities, and you, and your related entities, creating any unacceptable 

threats to our independence within the regulatory or professional requirements governing us as your auditors. 

  

We have policies and procedures in place which are designed to ensure that we carry out our work with integrity, objectivity and independence. These policies 

include: 

 all partners and staff are required to complete an annual independence declaration; 

 all new partners and staff are required to complete an independence confirmation and also complete computer-based ethical training; 

 rotation policies covering audit engagement partners and other key members of the audit team who are required to rotate off a client after a set number of 

years; and 

 use by managers and partners of our client and engagement acceptance system which requires all non-audit services to be approved in advance by the 

audit engagement partner. 

 

We wish to confirm that in our professional judgement, as at the date of this document, we are independent and comply with UK regulatory and professional 

requirements. However, if at any time you have concerns or questions about our integrity, objectivity or independence please discuss these with either Mark or 

Sharon.  

 

Prior to the provision of any non-audit services, the engagement partner will undertake appropriate procedures to consider and fully assess the impact that 

providing the service may have on our auditor independence.  No threats to our independence have been identified.  

 

 

 

P
age 100



 

13 
 

Appendix C - Materiality 
 
Materiality is an expression of the relative significance or importance of a particular matter in the context of financial statements as a whole. Misstatements in 

financial statements are considered to be material if they, individually or in aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 

users taken on the basis of the financial statements.  

 

Judgements on materiality are made in light of surrounding circumstances and are affected by the size and nature of a misstatement, or a combination of both. 

Judgements about materiality are based on consideration of the common financial information needs of users as a group and not on specific individual users. 

 

The assessment of what is material is a matter of professional judgement and is affected by our perception of the financial information needs of the users of 

the financial statements. In making our assessment we assume that users: 

 have a reasonable knowledge of business, economic activities and accounts;  

 have a willingness to study the information in the financial statements with reasonable diligence; 

 understand that financial statements are prepared, presented and audited to levels of materiality; 

 recognise the uncertainties inherent in the measurement of amounts based on the use of estimates, judgement and the consideration of future events; and 

 will make reasonable economic decisions on the basis of the information in the financial statements. 

 

We consider materiality whilst planning and performing our audit.  

 

Whilst planning our audit, we make judgements about the size of misstatements which we consider to be material and which provides a basis for determining 

the nature, timing and extent of risk assessment procedures, identifying and assessing the risk of material misstatement and determining the nature, timing and 

extent of further audit procedures.  

 

The materiality determined at the planning stage does not necessarily establish an amount below which uncorrected misstatements, either individually or in 

aggregate, will be considered as immaterial.  

 

We revise materiality for the financial statements as our audit progresses should we become aware of information that would have caused us to determine a 

different amount had we been aware of that information at the planning stage. 

 

We discuss with management any significant misstatements or anomalies that we identify during the course of the audit and we report in our Audit Completion 

Report all unadjusted misstatements we have identified other than those which are clearly trivial, and obtain written representation that explains why these 

remain unadjusted. 

 

 

  

 

P
age 101



 

14 
 

Appendix D – Our added value 
 
Our primary responsibilities as the Fund’s external auditor are outlined in the main body of this report.  As your external auditor we are ideally placed to provide 

added value in delivering those responsibilities and the diagram below provides a summary of how we do this. 

 

 

Insight 

 

Analysis of emerging issues shared 

regularly with you through our Audit 

Progress Reports. 

 

Sharing knowledge from our membership 

of a range of professional networks 

including those hosted by the ICAEW and 

NAO. 

 

Regular updates from our public services 

advisory team on lessons learned from its 

work across the UK public sector. 

 

Access to our public sector governance 

forum allowing free and open discussion of 

governance issues. 

Expertise 

 

Specialist public sector financial reporting 

advisory service, providing expert analysis 

of emerging accounting issues. 

 

A dedicated IT audit and advisory team, 

with expertise and experience of providing 

services across the public sector. 

 

Provision of annual accounting workshops 

attended by your finance team.  

Support for continuous 

improvement 

 

Clear and open communication, allowing 

for a sensible basis of resolving emerging 

issues. 

 

Internal control recommendations and 

follow-up work in conjunction with internal 

audit. 

 

 

 

P
age 102



Pension Fund Committee

7 March 2017

Terms of Reference – Annual Review

John Hewitt, Corporate Director Resources

Purpose of the Report

1 To review the terms of reference for the Pension Fund Committee.

Background

2 The Pension Fund Committee has responsibility delegated from the 
Council to discharge the powers and duties arising from Section 7 of 
the Superannuation Act 1972 and Regulations made following from 
this, including:
 approval of applications from bodies seeking admission to the 

Local Government Pension Scheme;
 appointment of external investment managers and advisers.

3 The Terms of Reference clarify the responsibilities of the Pension Fund 
Committee and ensure that they are clearly defined and understood.

Terms of Reference

4 The Terms of Reference are attached at Appendix 1 and are intended 
to provide clarity to the members of the Pension Fund Committee in a 
number of areas:

 High level objective of the Committee
 Authority of the Committee
 Composition of the Committee
 Detailed Terms of Reference to achieve the High Level 

Objective
 Meetings
 Programme of work
 Performance and Review

5 The Terms of Reference determine the future programme of work for 
the Pension Fund Committee and the frequency of reporting on the 
individual term of reference is included.

6 It was agreed that the Terms of Reference were to be reviewed at least 
annually to ensure that they include any changes, particularly with 

Page 103

Agenda Item 11



reference to amendments to the Authority delegated from the County 
Council through the County Council’s Constitution.

7 No changes have been made to this delegation of authority and it is 
recommended that no revisions be made to the Terms of Reference for 
the Pension Fund Committee.

Recommendation 

8 It is recommended that Members accept the Terms of Reference as 
detailed in Appendix 1 and they continue to be reviewed at least on an 
annual basis.

Background papers

(a) Durham County Council Constitution
(b) CIPFA – Pensions Finance – Knowledge and Skills Framework: 

Technical Guidance for Pensions Practitioners in the Public Sector
(c) CIPFA – Pensions Finance – Knowledge and Skills Framework: 

Technical Guidance for Elected Representatives and Non-executives in 
the Public Sector

(d) CIPFA – Investment Decision Making and Disclosure in the Local 
Government Pension Scheme: A guide to the Application of the Myners 
Principles

(e) Pension Fund Committee – 3 March 2016 – Terms of Reference

Contact: Nick Orton     Tel: 03000 269798

Page 104



Appendix 1: Pension Fund Committee – Terms of Reference

1. Objectives

1.1. The Pension Fund Committee’s objective is to ensure effective 
stewardship of the Fund’s affairs.  The Pension Fund is 
governed by Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 
and the Committee will ensure that the Pension Fund is run in 
accordance with the Regulations.

2. Authority

2.1 The Local Government Pension Scheme is a statutory scheme 
governed by Regulations.  Durham County Council, acting as 
Administering Authority for the Pension Fund has determined to 
delegate all functions relating to the maintenance of the Pension 
Fund to the Pension Fund Committee for its governance, and for 
prudent and effective stewardship.

2.2 Members act as committee members and not as Trustees.  
There is no Trust Deed or Agreement as with Private Pension 
funds.  Nonetheless, Members have fiduciary duties to 
participating employers and scheme members and take 
decisions with advice from Corporate Director Resources, 
officers and professional advisors, in accordance with the 
committee rules and voting procedures.

2.3 Under the terms of the County Council’s Constitution, the 
Pension Fund Committee has been delegated the following 
terms of reference:

2.3.1. Powers and duties arising from Section 7 of the 
Superannuation Act 1972 and Regulations made 
thereunder including:

 approval of applications from bodies seeking 
admission to the Local Government Pension 
Scheme;

 appointment of external investment managers and 
advisers.

3. Composition

3.1. The Myners’ first principle states that decisions should only be 
taken by persons or organisations with the skills, information 
and resources necessary to take them effectively.  In order to 
take investment decisions, they must have sufficient expertise 
and appropriate training to be able to evaluate critically any 
advice they take.  The Fund holds training sessions in advance 

Page 105



of decisions being taken, in particular when the investment 
strategy is considered, presentations on topical issues, related 
to possible choices of future investment.  Further training in time 
for actuarial valuations is also undertaken.

3.2. The structure of the Pension Fund Committee is as follows:

Body/ category of bodies represented
Number of Committee 

Members
Durham County Council 11
Darlington Borough Council 2
Colleges 1
Other Statutory Bodies 1
Admitted Bodies 1
Member representatives 2
Total   18
plus non-voting union observers 2

3.3. The allocation of members to the Committee broadly reflects the 
number of active members, pensioners and deferred pensioners 
each of the larger employers has within the Fund.  It has 
appropriate representation for the large employers within the 
Fund whilst maintaining a manageable governance framework 
for the size of the committee.  The two trade union 
representatives are invited as observers. 

3.4. The representatives from Durham County and Darlington 
Borough Councils are appointed by decisions of the respective 
councils. Representatives of the colleges, other statutory bodies, 
and admitted bodies are selected by the Committee from 
nominations made by the employers and are appointed for 4 
years. The two scheme member representatives are selected by 
the Committee from applications received from the membership 
following advertisement in the newsletter: one from active 
scheme members and one from pensioner members.

3.5. All members of the Committee, union observers and 
independent advisers are given full access to papers and are 
allowed to participate in meetings.

3.6. All members appointed to the Committee have voting rights. 
Union observers and advisers do not have voting rights as they 
do not act as formal members of the Committee.

3.7. The Pension Fund Committee meets four times a year and 
occasionally holds special meetings when required. 

3.8. The quorum for each regular meeting of the Committee is 5.

3.9. Minutes of the Committee are reported under the existing 
County Council Committee framework.

Page 106



3.10. Detailed performance reports will remain confidential items on 
Committee agenda as will any other item deemed as such by 
the Chairman although the Committee will aim to operate as 
transparently as feasible.

4. Terms of Reference

Number Term of Reference Frequency of 
Reporting

The Pension Fund Committee’s objective is 
to ensure effective stewardship of the Fund’s 
affairs.  The Pension Fund is governed by 
Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations and the Committee will ensure 
that the Pension Fund is run in accordance 
with the Regulations.

1 To prepare, monitor and undertake an annual 
review of policy documents including the:

 Funding Strategy Statement
 Statement of Investment Principles
 Governance Policy
 Communications Policy
 Administration Strategy (discretionary)

Annually

2 To review policy on social, environmental and 
ethical matters and on the exercise of rights, 
including voting rights.

Annually 

3 To appoint and terminate, within the 
procurement and contract rules,:

 investment managers
 custodian
 actuary
 independent external advisers
 Additional Voluntary Contribution 

(AVC) providers, and
 other contracts related to the 

management of the Pension Fund

In line with 
contractual 

requirements and 
as and when 

required

4 To consider the appropriateness of the 
committee structure to deliver the outcomes 
required by the Terms of Reference, e.g the 
establishment of an investment sub-
committee.

Annually

Page 107



Number Term of Reference Frequency of 
Reporting

5 To be responsible for governance 
arrangements including regulatory 
compliance and implementation of audit 
recommendations

Quarterly

6 To approve the annual internal audit plan and 
monitor progress on it’s delivery. Annually and 

quarterly 
monitoring

7 To review and monitor the Pension Fund Risk 
Register. Annually

8 To determine the overall investment strategy 
and strategic asset allocation, ensuring that 
investments are sufficiently diversified, not 
over concentrated in any one type of 
investment and that the pension fund is 
invested in suitable types of investments;

Minimum of 2 
yearly reviews

9 To obtain, and have due regard to, 
professional advice from the fund managers, 
investment advisers, officers and the fund 
actuary as appropriate;

Quarterly and as 
and when 
required

10 To monitor and review the investment 
managers’ performance against established 
benchmarks and to be satisfied of the 
investment managers’ expertise and the 
quality of their internal systems and controls;

Quarterly

11 To take appropriate and timely action in 
cases of unsatisfactory performance of the 
investment managers and independent 
external advisers;

Quarterly and as 
and when 
required

12 To monitor the cash flow forecasts of the 
fund;

Quarterly

13 To review the resources allocated to 
investment managers on a regular basis; Quarterly

14 Ensure appropriate arrangements are in 
place for the administration of benefits and 
contributions.

Annually

Page 108



Number Term of Reference Frequency of 
Reporting

15 To approve, apply and decide upon 
employers joining and leaving the Fund.  To 
consider, and if appropriate, approve 
applications of employers to become 
admitted bodies to the fund.

As and when 
required

16 To agree an accounting policy for the Fund 
consistent with IFRS and relevant 
authoritative guidance in order to prepare and 
publish a Pension Fund Annual Report 
including an abstract of accounts.

Annually

17 To review the Annual Report and Accounts of 
the Pension Fund and report its findings to 
the Audit Committee, where the Accounts are 
approved.

Annually

18 To consider all other relevant matters to the 
investment and administration of the fund. As and when 

required
19 To establish constitutional documents, codes, 

policies, plans, frameworks and protocols 
connected with the establishment and 
operation of the Local Pension Board

As and when 
required

5. Meetings

5.1. The Pension Fund Committee meets four times a year and 
occasionally holds special meetings when required.  The 
Pension Fund Committee also holds an Annual General Meeting 
to which all employers are invited.  This maintains a 
manageable governance framework in terms of the frequency of 
meetings.

6. Programme of Work

6.1. An annual programme of work, cross referenced to the terms of 
reference, will be agreed annually by the Pension Fund 
Committee showing expected documents and reports to be 
presented and any training requirements.

7. Performance and Review

7.1. The Pension Fund Committee will carry out an annual self-
assessment, including a review of these terms of reference, to 
evaluate its own performance and determine any action required 
to improve its effectiveness.

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



Pension Fund Committee

7 March 2017

Guaranteed Minimum Pension 
Reconciliation Exercise Between Pension 
Fund Records and Her Majesty’s Revenue 
and Customs

John Hewitt, Corporate Director Resources

Purpose of the report

1 To make Members aware of the requirement for the Pension Fund to 
carry out an exercise to reconcile its records with those held by HM 
Revenue and Customs (HMRC), and to explain the potential costs and 
consequences associated with this.

Background
 
2 Up until April 2016 contributing members of the Local Government 

Pension Scheme (LGPS) paid lower rate National Insurance 
contributions as they were “contracted out” of the Additional State 
Pension (previously known as S2P, the State Second Pension or the 
State Earnings-Related Pension (SERPS)). LGPS employers also paid 
reduced rate National Insurance contributions in respect of their 
employees who were in the LGPS. Contracting-out ended from 6 April 
2016 as part of the Government’s introduction of a single-tier basis 
state pension.

3 Between 1978 and 1997 contracting out of the Additional State 
Pension was done on a Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) basis. 
This meant contracted out pension schemes had to offer pension 
benefits for the period of contracting out that were worth at least as 
much as the benefits the additional state pension would have provided. 
Contracted out pension schemes had to record the relevant contracted-
out earnings for that period and supply HMRC with details of these. 
HMRC retains a record of contracted out earnings and GMP 
entitlement for each individual and HMRC then advise pension 
schemes of GMP entitlements when the individuals reach state pension 
age.

4 GMP affects the way pension increase is applied each year. For 
individuals who reached state pension age before 6 April 2016, all 
pension increases on GMP earned before April 1988, and pension 
increases up to 3% on GMP earned after April 1988 are paid for by the Page 111

Agenda Item 12



state. This means the Pension Fund currently pays lower pension 
increases to those individuals with a GMP.

5 Contracting-out ceased in April 2016, and as part of this change, 
HMRC announced that it will stop offering a GMP reconciliation service 
after 2018 but has now made full information on GMP liabilities 
available to former contracted-out pension schemes to allow a GMP 
reconciliation exercise to take place.

Guaranteed Minimum Pension Reconciliation

6 GMP reconciliation allows pension schemes to check their contracted 
out records against those held by HMRC in order to resolve any 
differences between the two sets of records. HMRC has set up a 
Scheme Reconciliation Service to assist pension scheme 
administrators to reconcile their records for all non-active members 
(which includes; leavers with deferred benefits, pensioners, widows, 
widowers/civil partners) against HMRC records.

7 HMRC has also made data available to all pension schemes from 
February 2017 for reconciling GMP information for active members. 
HMRC will also be writing to all individuals with a GMP liability in 
December 2018 telling them which pension scheme holds their liability.

Why carry out a Guaranteed Minimum Pension reconciliation?

8 There are a number of reasons to carry out GMP reconciliation 
including:

 Compliance with the Pensions Regulator’s data quality checking 
guidance

 To ensure members’ benefits are accurate
 To provide for more accurate actuarial valuations
 To ensure that scheme liabilities are correctly recorded.

9 There are also significant risks to the Pension Fund if reconciliation 
activity is not carried out. These include: 

 The GMP amounts held by HMRC will automatically apply and this 
could have material implications on the Fund’s liabilities 

 Individuals the Fund may not be aware of will request their GMP 
entitlement after 2018 

 GMP amounts we are unaware of will lead to incorrect valuations of 
the Funds scheme liabilities 

 Incorrect pension amounts being paid to members 
 Member complaints and reputation risk.

Page 112



The Reconciliation Exercise

10 GMP reconciliation is the process of comparing a pension scheme’s 
GMP information with that held by HMRC. It investigates any 
discrepancies between the two sets of figures so that both parties end 
up with consistent GMP data and benefit records. HMRC’s starting 
position is usually that its data is automatically considered to be correct 
(although this is not always the case) unless the pension scheme can 
prove otherwise, which puts all the investigative responsibility back 
onto the pension scheme. The reconciliation will potentially involve 
detailed investigative work, reviewing decades of data and benefit 
accrual.

11 The Pension Fund has registered with HMRC’s scheme reconciliation 
service and has received a data file which lists the contracted-out 
periods and GMP data for members who have left contracted-out 
employment. There are 20,845 lines of data - 20,401 in respect of 
Local Government Pension Scheme members and 444 in respect of 
members of the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme.

Initial Investigations

12 ITM – the company that successfully dealt with the data transition from 
the old to the new pension administration software system in 2015 - 
also provides a service assisting Funds with GMP reconciliation. ITM 
was commissioned to carry out an initial scoping analysis and 
categorisation exercise. Their initial report in respect of the LGPS 
identified a significant number of discrepancies between the GMP 
information held by HMRC and the Pension Fund. The charts below 
show the differences between the overall numbers of individuals shown 
on HMRC’s records and those held on the Pension Fund’s records

Analysis of 49,497 records held on Pension Fund database

Page 113



Analysis of 20,401 records held on HMRC database

13 As shown above, there are around 5,000 mismatches where it is not 
immediately obvious why there is a discrepancy. Further investigation 
will be required on these cases.

14 Where there is a match, and the individual has a GMP record with both 
the Pension Fund and with HMRC, there are some records where there 
is a discrepancy between the GMP values held.  The chart below 
shows the range of variances:

Page 114



15 Not all variances will need to be investigated. The following guidance 
has been issued by a working group set up by HM Treasury on the 
general approach that LGPS Funds should take to GMP reconciliation:

The following members’ data should be reconciled:

 Scheme members who have not yet reached state pension age who 
have any service between 6 April 1978 and 5 April 1997.

 Non-members who the pension scheme believe it has already 
discharged its liability (through, for example, transferring out their 
benefits to another pension scheme or receiving a refund of 
contributions).

16 The HM Treasury working group also provided the following 
recommendations on how any discrepancies indentified through the 
reconciliation process should be dealt with:

 Pensioners that have been underpaid should receive their pension 
arrears in full, with interest in accordance with scheme rules.

 Cases where pensioners have been overpaid should be considered 
in the context of the overall extent of any overpayments, and a view 
taken over whether there will be value for money in recouping 
overpayments.

 Where discrepancies are small, for example if a service period 
discrepancy is less than a year, or if the discrepancy in weekly GMP 
amount is no more than £2, schemes should used the data provided 
by HMRC in respect of any individuals who have not reached state 
pension age, or the data held by the scheme in respect of any 
individuals who have reached state pension age.

17 The Local Government Pensions Committee (LGPC) has recommend 
the following approach to reconciling post 5 April 1997 contracted-out 
data:

 Where contracted-out records appear on HMRC records but no 
corresponding LGPS pension records exist within its fund, LGPS 
Administering Authorities should investigate all cases

 Where the dates of contracted-out service differ, each LGPS 
Administering Authority should only investigate those cases where 
in its view there is a significant risk to LGPS benefits or process.

 Where contracted out records do not appear on HMRC records but 
an LGPS pension record exists within its fund, each LGPS 
Administering Authority should notify HMRC of the discrepancy but 
only investigate those cases where in its view there is a significant 
risk to LGPS benefits or process.

Page 115



 
The LGPS views this approach as representing a cost effective means 
of minimising risk of incorrect benefits while avoiding unnecessary and 
cost duplication of the work already undertaken to ensure records are 
accurate.

 

Next steps

18 ITM’s initial work has identified areas where discrepancies exist. 
Further work is required to categorise the discrepancies identified, and 
make an assessment of the size of the issue, including what decisions 
should be made about materiality, and the process to follow in 
correcting any under or over payments identified. 

19 It is likely that some further external expert assistance will be needed to 
carry out this work. The Pensions Team is working with procurement 
colleagues to ensure best value is achieved when commissioning any 
external assistance. Additional resource may also need to be allocated 
to the Pensions Team to carry out this GMP reconciliation exercise in 
order to ensure there is not a significant deterioration in service delivery 
as resource is allocated to the project.

20 The following areas should be viewed as a priority
 Reconciling and agreeing the overall population under review – 

where possible, identifying reasons for the 5,000 member 
discrepancy between HMRC’s data and the Pension Fund’s data.

 Investigating and resolving the discrepancies in GMP values above 
£2 a week for those individuals already in receipt of a GMP.

 Categorising and prioritising the remaining discrepancy cases.

Recommendation

21 Members are asked to note the report and to agree that the Corporate 
Director Resources can commit additional resource to the GMP 
reconciliation exercise as necessary, which will be charged as a 
general Pension Fund administration expense.

Contact: Nick Orton     Tel: 03000 269798

Page 116



Pension Fund Committee

7 March 2017

The UK Stewardship Code and Local 
Authority Pension Fund Forurm 
(LAPFF) Membership

John Hewitt, Corporate Director Resources

Purpose of the Report

1. To recommend to that the Pension Fund works with its investment advisor 
and fund managers to ensure it can become a signatory to the UK 
Stewardship Code. As part of this process it is also recommended that the 
Pension Fund pays an annual subscription to become a member of the Local 
Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF), a collaborative shareholder 
engagement group for local authority pension funds.

Background

2. It is widely acknowledged that the long-term interests of investors are 
enhanced by high standards of corporate governance and responsibility in the 
companies they are invested in. Conversely, poor corporate governance can 
impact negatively on shareholder value.

3. The Government’s Guidance on Preparing and Maintaining an Investment 
Strategy Statement includes the following comments on the importance of 
Pension Funds engaging with the companies they invest in:

“Engagement enables administering authorities as long term 
shareholders to exert a positive influence on companies to promote 
strong governance, manage risk, increase accountability and drive 
improvements in the management of environmental, social and 
corporate governance issues.

Administering authorities are encouraged to consider the best way to 
engage with companies to promote their long-term success, either 
directly, in partnership with other investors or through their investment 
managers, and explain their policy on stewardship with reference to the 
Stewardship Code. 

Administering authorities should become Signatories to the Code and 
state how they implement the seven principles and guidance of the 
Code, which apply on a “comply or explain” basis.”

Page 117

Agenda Item 13



The UK Stewardship Code

4. The UK Stewardship Code aims to enhance the quality of engagement 
between investors and companies to help improve long-term risk-adjusted 
returns to shareholders. It comprises the following seven principles which 
signatories to the Code are asked to explain how they will comply with:

“So as to protect and enhance the value that accrues to the ultimate 
beneficiary, institutional investors should:

1) publicly disclose their policy on how they will discharge their stewardship 
responsibilities.

2) have a robust policy on managing conflicts of interest in relation to 
stewardship which should be publicly disclosed.

3) monitor their investee companies.
4) establish clear guidelines on when and how they will escalate their 

stewardship activities.
5) be willing to act collectively with other investors where appropriate.
6) have a clear policy on voting and disclosure of voting activity.
7) report periodically on their stewardship and voting activities.”

5. The Council, as administering authority to the Pension Fund is required to 
commit to become a signatory to the UK Stewardship Code, and this is 
referred to within the Investment Strategy Statement included within agenda 
item 7.

Local Authority Pension Fund Forum

6. The Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) is a voluntary association 
of local authority pension funds and membership is open to all Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) funds. The Forum
 Seeks to protect and enhance the value of members shareholdings by 

optimising LA  pension funds’  influence as shareholders on ESG 
(environmental, social and governance issues) and thereby to promote 
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) and high standards of Corporate 
Governance

 Facilitates commissioning of research and policy analysis of issues more 
effectively than individual members 

 Provides a forum for consultation on shareholder initiatives
 Provides a forum for information exchange and discussion about any 

investment issues
 Provides a forum to consider issues of common interest to all pension fund 

administrators and trustees.

7. The Forum has 4 business meetings a year plus an AGM and an annual 
conference with each member fund having one vote at meetings. LAPFF 
contracts PIRC (Pensions Investment Research Consultants) to supply 
technical research, advice and assistance on all matters relating to best 
practice in corporate governance and corporate social responsibility. It also 

Page 118



employs a part-time Forum Officer (a former City/County Treasurer) to assist 
with the promotion of its activities. 

8. The Forum currently has 72 local authority members including all eleven other 
funds in the Border to Coast Pensions Partnership.

9. LAPFF member funds now control assets of around £180 billion. The annual 
cost of membership would be the annual subscription of £8,460 or £8,250 pa 
for a three year membership. (This subscription has been held at the same 
level for the past seven years as more funds have joined the Forum – LAPFF 
membership has increased by 200% since 2003. 

10. Benefits of membership would include:-

 Supporting shareholder value through engagement and activism on issues 
relating to ESG issues.

 Strength in numbers when engaging with companies at the highest level    
(i.e. Chairperson or other senior board members)

 Collective and more cost effective approach to research
 Saving of officer time and cost in researching issues 
 Sharing  research costs with 72 Forum member funds 
 Providing a Forum for discussion of any related  local government pension 

fund issue
 Opportunities for networking with colleagues from all parts of UK and all 

types of authority
 Facilitating collaboration with other major institutional investor groups both 

nationally and internationally.

Membership of LAPFF would further demonstrate the Pension Fund’s 
commitment to socially responsible investment and the promotion of high 
standards of corporate social responsibility (on environmental, social and 
governance issues etc) and re-enforce our aim to maximise shareholder 
value. It would also help demonstrate compliance with the principles of the UK 
Stewardship Code.

Recommendation

11. Members are asked to agree that the Pensions Manager works with the 
Pension Fund’s investment advisor and fund managers to ensure the Pension 
Fund can become a signatory to the UK Stewardship Code. 

12. Members are asked to agree that the Pension Fund pays an annual 
subscription to become a member of the Local Authority Pension Fund 
Forum.

Contact: Nick Orton Tel: 03000 269798

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 121

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 129

Agenda Item 19
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 161

Agenda Item 20
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 167

Agenda Item 21
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 175

Agenda Item 22
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 177

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 181

Agenda Item 23
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 183

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 191

Agenda Item 24
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 215

Agenda Item 25
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 231

Agenda Item 26
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 235

Agenda Item 27
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 239

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 249

Agenda Item 28
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 251

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 The Minutes of the Meeting held on 8 December 2016
	4 Overall Value of Pension Fund Investments to 31 December 2016
	5 Performance Measurement of Pension Fund Investments to 31 December 2016
	Durham County Council Pension Fund Quarterly Performance Report Appendix
	Cover Page
	Index and Benchmark Report - Monthly - Filtered
	Executive Summary - Filtered
	Portfolio Comparison - Filtered
	Relative Performance - Composite Level - Monthly - Filtered


	6 Short Term Investments for the Period Ended 31 December 2016
	7 Pension Fund Policy Documents - Funding Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy Statement
	FSS - Appendix A
	ISS - Appendix B

	8 Agreement of Accounting Policies for Application in the 2016/17 Financial Statements of the Pension Fund
	9 Internal Audit Plan 2017/2018
	10 Audit Strategy Memorandum for Year Ended 31 March 2017
	11 Terms of Reference - Annual Review
	12 Guaranteed Minimum Pension Reconciliation Exercise Between Pension Fund Records and Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs
	13 The UK Stewardship Code and Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) Membership
	18 The Minutes of the Meeting held on 8 December 2016
	19 Report of the Pension Fund Adviser
	20 Investment Strategy Review Update
	21 Report of CBRE Global Investment Partners
	22 Report of Mondrian Investment Partners
	MONDRIAN 2

	23 Report of Walter Scott (BNY Mellon)
	bnymgf_long_term_global_equity_professional_detailed_fund_report_EN_2016_Q4

	24 Report of Aberdeen Asset Management
	25 Report of AB
	26 Report of Royal London
	27 Report of BlackRock
	BlackRock 2

	28 Internal Audit Progress Report to 31 December 2016
	Internal Audit Progres Report Appendix 1


